

WILDFIRE SMOKE: HEALTH IMPACTS MITIGATION STRATEGY

MAY 2025

Public Health – Seattle & King County Climate & Health Equity Initiative

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Contents 1
Executive Summary
1 Introduction 5
2 Strategy development
3 Meeting the challenge: wildfire smoke health impact mitigation actions
Public Guidance & Information12
Air Quality Monitoring & Warnings19
Indoor Air Quality & Built Environments
Wildfire Smoke Response
4 Understanding the challenge: wildfire smoke in the pacific northwest
4.1 Impacts on public health
4.2 Populations at risk
4.3 Behavior & risk perception45
4.4 Indoor air quality: capabilities of the built environment
4.5 Variations in wildfire smoke composition & toxicity
4.6 Wildfire smoke: past, present, and future
4.7 Air quality monitoring and forecasting
5 References 62
Appendix A: Actions Taken Since Strategy Proposal78
COVID-19 & Increase in Indoor Air Quality Awareness78
Resource Distribution & Indoor Air Quality Guidance79
Public Health Recommendations & Response Coordination
WA Labor and Industry (WA L&I) Rulemaking81

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In 2022, the Bolt Creek Fire caused areas of King County, for a period of time, to have the worst air quality in the world. Climate change is causing drier conditions and higher temperatures, resulting in an increase in the frequency and severity of wildfires across the western United States and Canada. As wildfires burn across the landscape, they can generate large plumes of wildfire smoke that can significantly impact the air we breathe and affect the air quality for communities far away from where fires may be occurring, and for extended periods of time. As we continue to experience the effects of climate change, driven by the release of greenhouse gases into the Earth's atmosphere, the occurrence of wildfires and presence of wildfire smoke is anticipated to become an increasing part of seasonal patterns in the Pacific Northwest. Planning and preparing for wildfire smoke requires recognition of the increasing role it will have in influencing our decision-making and how we navigate our day-to-day lives.

The health risks posed by wildfire smoke are significant. Exposure to wildfire smoke can range from mild symptoms – including irritation to people's eyes, noise, and throat – to more severe outcomes – including aggravation of asthma, cardiovascular complications, stoke, renal failure, and premature death. People most at risk to wildfire smoke include young children and older adults, pregnant individuals, people with pre-existing health conditions, outdoor workers, athletes, and people living unsheltered.

While wildfire smoke can impact air quality for entire populations, existing inequities related to income, housing status and quality, and proximity to industrial and transportation emission sources can contribute to disparities in the level of exposure and sensitivity individuals have to wildfire smoke. If left unaccounted for and unaddressed, the increasing occurrence of wildfire smoke will likely deepen existing community health disparities. Causing adverse health impacts likely to disproportionately affect communities of color and lower-income households and individuals. Without intervening action, the increasing occurrence of wildfire smoke could result in the additional loss of life of over 27,000 people each year, by the year 2050 in the U.S. alone¹.

¹ (Qui, et al., 2024)

The *King County Wildfire Smoke: Health Impacts Mitigation Strategy* identifies 14 actions to help mitigate the health impacts of wildfire smoke here in King County, and beyond. These actions focus on four strategic priorities:

- Increase the availability and accessibility of actionable public information and guidance.
- Increase accessibility to local air quality information to inform decision-making.
- Improve indoor air quality and the resilience of our built environment² to withstand air quality impacts.
- Increase capacity to prepare for and respond to emergent needs during wildfire smoke episodes.

The 14 actions outlined herein are aspirational and intended to reduce the harm to human health posed by wildfire smoke. Many of these actions will require exploration and identification of new funding opportunities to support implementation. To be successful, all of these actions will require multi-sector public-private partnerships and cross-jurisdictional collaboration across all levels of government.

The purpose of this strategy is to help guide decision makers, as funding and resources are available, through the identification of actions and measures that can be taken to increase the smoke readiness of King County communities and support the equitable adaptation to the increasing occurrence of wildfire smoke.

² The term built environment refers to human-made conditions and physical features that encompass buildings, public infrastructure, transportation, agricultural lands, parks, or any human created or modified spaces in which people live, work, and recreate on a day-to-day basis.

Priority Area Mitigation Action PGI-1. Co-create educational materials with trusted community messengers in multi-media formats. PGI-2. Increase language accessibility of risk communications. PGI-3. Provide educational outreach and equipment Public Guidance & Information demonstrations at community events and resource fairs. PGI-4. Provide train-the-trainer opportunities for building community capacity and workforce opportunities in the mitigation of health impacts. AQM-1. Deploy visual lighting installations at public parks and outdoor assembly areas to display current air quality conditions. AQM-2. Develop standard guidance on how to use available Air Quality Monitoring & air quality data and forecast information to inform proactive Warnings decision-making during wildfire smoke episodes. AQM-3. Provide participatory youth STEAM engagement opportunities in air quality monitoring. IAQ-1. Support distribution of portable air cleaners, indoor air guality sensors, and weatherization resources to frontline communities and low-income residents. IAQ-2. Increase equitable access to workforce development and vocational training opportunities related to indoor air Indoor Air Quality & Built quality assessment and HVAC system maintenance and Environments operation. IAQ-3. Assess and identify publicly accessible buildings, including facilities operated by homeless service providers, capable of serving as cleaner air sites during wildfire smoke episodes through a certification and placarding process. WSR-1. Establish inventory of deployable air filtration system to open cleaner air sites. WSR-2. Make N95 respirators available to unsheltered individuals and people experiencing homelessness during wildfire smoke episodes. WSR-3. Increase the number of staff trained and certified as Wildfire Smoke Response incident management team (IMT) air resource advisors (ARAs). WSR-4. Include severe wildfire smoke as a conditional measure in special and/or temporary event permitting that would require rescheduling or cancelation of outdoor events and activities during periods of severe wildfire smoke.

Table 1. Wildfire Smoke: Health Impacts Mitigation Actions.



INTRODUCTION

The King County Wildfire Smoke: Health Impacts Mitigation Strategy was developed for local decisionmakers and the staff of agencies, departments, and organizations engaging in preparedness efforts to protect the health of people during periods of poor air quality caused by wildfire smoke. It provides a firstever strategic decision support framework that identifies opportunities, referred to as mitigation actions, for cross-organizational and crossjurisdictional work that can serve to reduce and prevent adverse health impacts from wildfire smoke. The strategy identifies 14 mitigation actions, that are organized around four strategic priorities:



Figure 1. Risk management framework.

- Increase the availability and accessibility of actionable public information and guidance.
- Increase accessibility to local air quality information to inform decision-making.
- Improve indoor air quality and the resilience of our built environment to withstand air quality impacts.
- Increase capacity to prepare for and respond to emergent needs during wildfire smoke episodes.

The purpose of the *King County Wildfire Smoke: Health Impact Mitigation Strategy* is to outline potential actions that can help residents and visitors cope and adapt to the increasing occurrence of wildfire smoke episodes in a manner that minimizes the risk to peoples' health, while addressing health inequities that place some communities and populations at greater risk. The goal of this strategy and the mitigation actions outlined herein is to increase the smoke readiness of communities as wildfire smoke becomes an increasingly frequent part of our lives, due to the effects of climate change. The actions in this strategy are not intended to be prescriptive; rather, they are intended to help direct local decision- makers and staff tasked with protecting the health, welfare, and well-being of residents and visitors towards relevant and regionally coordinated actions that can prepare our communities for a changing climate.

Wildfire smoke is an increasing threat to the health and the well-being of King County communities. As the frequency and severity of wildfire activity across the western United States and southwestern Canada have increased, periods of poor air quality across the region caused by wildfire smoke have become increasingly common. This impacts all King



Figure 2. Satelite image of wildfires occuring across the western United States.

County communities, including densely populated urban areas far removed from where active wildfires are occurring. Wildfire activity is also increasing close to urban areas, further contributing to intense and unpredictable air quality impacts. At the same time, there is a growing awareness of the projected increase in wildfire risk due to climate change, as well as a sense of urgency to prioritize mitigation efforts to better prepare communities for a future where wildfire smoke is increasingly a part of our lives.

In 2021, King County convened representatives from wildland-urban interface (WUI)

communities, fire departments, local, state, and Tribal natural resource agencies, conservation agencies, utilities, and academic institutions to develop a strategy for coordinated work on wildfire risk reduction in King County. During these initial efforts, the group determined that the issues and actions necessary for mitigating the health impacts associated with wildfire smoke were unique, and, in many ways, different from actions necessary for reducing wildfire risk.

Wildfire risk reduction activities focus on reducing potential for wildfire ignition and increasing coordination for response and recovery efforts. Mitigating the health impacts of wildfire smoke, on the other hand, requires harm-reduction measures to help reduce the risk of exposure to wildfire smoke and poor air quality when wildfires are occurring. These mitigation measures to reduce the health impacts of wildfire smoke must also be undertaken by all impacted jurisdictions in King County, well beyond wildland-urban interface communities.

For this strategy to be successfully implemented, numerous organizations must participate in leading and supporting roles, across jurisdictions and levels of government. The local community must also be involved to center health equity, reduce health impacts, and increase community resilience to wildfire smoke. As no single agency or program is solely responsible for mitigating the health impacts of wildfire smoke in King County, this strategy is written for King County as a community of governments, organizations, and other public and private sector partners that have a role in implementing wildfire smoke health mitigation measures and shaping wildfire smoke resilience.

Planning for wildfire smoke is a shared priority among King County agencies, as well as federal, state, local, and community partners. King County will be the steward of the *King County Wildfire Smoke Health Impacts Mitigation Strategy*, tracking implementation and working with partners to evaluate the need for updates. Actions from this strategy and any future

updates should be integrated into county and local hazard mitigation plans, comprehensive plans, capital improvement plans, and other strategic planning documents such as King County's *Strategic Climate Action Plan (SCAP),* as appropriate. Plan integration can help to ensure the advancement and implementation of wildfire smoke mitigation actions, as well as support prioritization of fiscal and staff resources for this work.

STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT

Public Health – Seattle & King County (PHSKC) has been actively working to address the impacts of climate change on health since 2016. Since the 2018 release of its *Blueprint for Addressing Climate Change and Health*, it has engaged in and led community preparedness and mitigation efforts associated with preparing for and responding to the impacts of climate change on health. Since 2019, the department has collected input on wildfire smoke preparedness concerns, gaps, and needs through engagement with King County agencies and state and local partners, such as the Washington Department of Health, Washington Department of Ecology, and Puget Sound Clean Air Agency; participation in the state's Wildfire Smoke Impacts Advisory Group; and community outreach and engagement efforts by PHSKC in partnership with nearly 40 community-based and faith-based organizations.

The 2020 SCAP tasked PHSKC with leading development of the *King County Wildfire Smoke: Health Impacts Mitigation Strategy* under *SCAP* Preparedness Action 4.2.10 as a priority action that aims to strengthen collaborations and partnerships to increase community resilience in the face of climate impacts. Development of the *Wildfire Smoke: Health Impacts Mitigation Strategy* began in Spring 2023 with the establishment of a steering committee comprised of representatives from public agencies and organizations.

Steering committee members included staff from the following organizations:

- City of Seattle Office of Sustainability and the Environment
- King County Department of Natural Resources and Parks
- King County Executive Climate Office
- King County Office of Emergency Management
- King County Regional Homelessness Authority
- Public Health Seattle & King County
- Puget Sound Clean Air Agency
- University of Washington, Department of Environmental and Occupational Health Sciences
- Washington State Department of Ecology
- Washington State Department of Health

Additional community input was obtained during the development of this strategy by trusted community partners. In Fall 2023, PHSKC worked with five contracted community-based and faith-based organizations to host seven facilitated discussion and listening sessions with community members. The focus of these sessions was to identify additional community needs, barriers, and challenges towards taking action to reduce exposure to poor air quality during wildfire smoke events.

The most common themes raised by participants during these discussions included:



Concerns with not being able to find the information or resources necessary to stay informed and to cope with wildfire smoke's impact on air quality.



Language access limitations associated with accessing real-time air quality data, information, and guidance.



Concerns related to the recognition of deep inequities regarding exposure to air pollution and poor indoor air quality.



Challenges associated with access and affordability of devices that can be used to improve indoor air quality.



Challenges many residents face trying to deal with the combined risk of staying cool from the heat while also trying to reduce their exposure to wildfire smoke.



The need to clearly identify the places where people can go to seek shelter during wildfire smoke episodes and how people without access to transportation can get there.



The desire for increased distribution of air filtration equipment to frontline communities.³

In addition to input obtained from state and local partners and the community, the information and actions outlined in this strategy were further informed by a review of

³ Frontline communities are those that are disproportionately impacted by climate change due to existing and historic racial, social, environmental, and economic inequities, and who have limited resources and/or capacity to adapt. These populations often experience the earliest and most acute impacts of climate change, but whose experiences afford unique strengths and insights into climate resilience strategies and practices. Frontline communities include Black, Indigenous, and People of Color (BIPOC) communities, immigrants, and refugees, people living with low incomes, communities experiencing disproportionate pollution exposure, women and gender non-conforming people, LGBTQIA people, people who live/work outside, those with existing health issues, people with limited English skills, and other climate vulnerable groups.

scholarly literature, case studies, federal guidance, and established best practices related to the reduction of health impacts resulting from wildfire smoke exposure.

Since the adoption of the *SCAP* in May 2021, and with it the call to action to develop this strategy, there have been several other significant developments and initiatives that have helped improve community preparedness for the risks posed by wildfire smoke. PHSKC has been working to find effective strategies to protect people from wildfire smoke in both home and congregate settings. These efforts have included developing a <u>public health wildfire</u> <u>smoke response plan</u>; developing and providing guidance for community shelters and cleaner air sites; deploying in-home strategies that have encouraged the use of air filtration equipment; and promoting low-barrier actions such as sheltering in place during wildfire smoke episodes, monitoring air quality, and using facial respirator masks (see Appendix A for a detailed description of countywide actions implemented to date). These strategies have evolved significantly during the COVID-19 pandemic as use of masks and indoor air filtration equipment have become more common. However, the science regarding the health impacts of exposure to wildfire smoke is still evolving and with it, so too is the information on the actions that can be taken to better prepare communities for the increasing frequency of wildfire smoke events.

Without committed action, wildfire smoke is likely to deepen existing health disparities and perpetuate inequities along lines of race and socioeconomic status. This strategy serves to help decision-makers identify additional actions that can reduce the health risks of wildfire smoke exposure and improve equitable access to cleaner air during wildfire smoke episodes. Several actions identified in this strategy will take multiple years to implement and see the tangible benefits to protecting the health of our communities, making it essential that we begin the important work now of preparing for our future in a changing climate.



B

MEETING THE CHALLENGE: WILDFIRE SMOKE HEALTH IMPACT MITIGATION ACTIONS

The following section details 14 recommended actions identified to address the increasing frequency of wildfire smoke episodes and reduce the health risks associated with wildfire smoke exposure in King County.

Actions are organized under four strategic priorities, including:

- Increase the availability and accessibility of actionable public information and guidance.
- Increase accessibility to local air quality information to inform decision-making.
- Improve indoor air quality and the resilience of our built environment to withstand air quality impacts.
- Increase capacity to prepare for and respond to emergent needs during wildfire smoke episodes.

Performance measures are provided for each strategic priority area, identifying potential indicators of success that could be used for monitoring implementation progress and effectiveness of actions under each strategic priority area over time.

Each action includes the following information:

- *Action description*: Briefly describes why the recommended action is needed, what the action involves, to whom the action is primarily directed, and what the action will accomplish.
- *Potential collaborators*: Identifies potentially relevant organizations or groups important to implementing the work and achieving the intended outcomes. Potential collaborators may include other organizations not listed in this field.
- *Implementation feasibility*: Provides a relative scale (easy, moderate, hard) indicating how quickly the action can be implemented. Factors that can influence feasibility include the cost of implementation, the degree to which organizations are already engaged in the work or similar activities, and the absence or presence of political, legal, technical, or organizational barriers.

Easy

Actions ranked as "Easy" are relatively low barrier actions able to be accomplished with existing resources and can be integrated into existing service areas. Actions ranked as "Easy" can be augmented by allocation or receipt of additional funding to support implementation.

Moderate Actions ranked as "Moderate" can be integrated into existing service areas, however will require additional funding, staffing, or additional resources to support implementation. Actions ranked as "Moderate" also require broader coordination and collaboration across jurisdictional partners and may require additional planning and logistical considerations.

Hard

Actions ranked as "Hard" will require establishment of new programmatic service areas and may necessitate substantive financial investment to support implementation. Actions ranked as "Hard" also may face additional political and technical barriers, as well as additional legal considerations, and will require additional planning, coordination across jurisdictional partners, and collaboration across multiple sectors.



PGI-1: Co-create educational materials with trusted community messengers in multiple media formats.

Action Description:

This action applies a community co-creation approach to the development of educational materials focused on wildfire smoke and other emergent climate-driven hazards. The goal of this action is to improve the reach and reception of public messaging and community educational materials while increasing availability of actionable information members of the public can use to proactively protect their health from the increasing frequency of wildfire smoke episodes and other climate-driven hazards.

Members of the public receive their information in a range of formats and through channels they view as trusted messengers. Trusted messengers are commonly community-based and faith-based organizations, service providers, or other community leaders who are already known and respected by the communities they serve. While it is the public sector's responsibility to provide credible information on hazards that pose a risk to public health and well-being, it is also essential to collaborate with trusted community messengers to develop public messaging and educational materials that will effectively reach diverse populations and communities they serve. By co-creating with community partners, health guidance and public information can be more tailored, culturally relevant, and provided in a variety of channels and platforms through which different communities predominately obtain their information.



Figure 3. PHSKC's Breathe Better at Home infographic..

Co-creation is an active, participatory approach which centers community in the development of strategies at the earliest possible opportunity. It assumes shared power, responsibility, accountability, and decision-making with community members and centers on the needs of those most harmed by inequality. Several King County departments and agencies have already begun adopting this approach for their routine delivery of services and educational outreach efforts. <u>Breathe</u> <u>Better at Home</u> is one example of educational content developed in co-creation with community addressing the importance of indoor air quality and measures residents can take to improve it.

Implementation of this action necessitates meaningful engagement with community and recognition that King County itself is a community of diverse communities. Jurisdictions interested in this action should begin by identifying populations adversely impacted by existing inequality and assessing if there may be any populations or communities that may be particularly harder to reach, and then work to identify potential trusted messengers by putting out an open call for contributors from organizations, service-providers, and community leaders who may already serve those populations. In order for this action to be successful, it is important for all collaborating parties to be on the same page regarding the intended deliverables, available funding for projects, and the delineation of roles and responsibilities – including authorization for final approvals.

Recommended community educational content for co-creation includes topics on, but not limited to:

- Where to get information during a wildfire smoke event.
- Overview of the Air Quality Index (AQI) and how to access and interpret current air quality data and forecast information.
- Health risks of wildfire smoke exposure and factors that can increase an individual's sensitivity or level of exposure during wildfire smoke episodes.
- Effective use of indoor air filtration equipment and device maintenance.
- Proper method for putting on and removing N95 or other facial respirator masks.
- Other factors that can influence indoor air quality and increase risk of exposure to poor air quality during wildfire smoke episodes.

Potential collaborators:

Trusted community messengers, including community-based and faith-based organizations, community service providers, and other community leaders; local, state, and federal public health agencies; healthcare service providers; local clean air agencies; local, state, and federal weather forecasting and monitoring agencies; state and federal environmental protection agencies; state labor and industry agencies.

Implementation Feasibility:



PGI-2: Increase language accessibility of risk communications.

Action Description:

Language access can be a significant barrier keeping residents from receiving key information on air quality and actions to reduce potential health impacts from wildfire smoke exposure. Agencies such as Public Health – Seattle & King County, Puget Sound Clean Air Agency, and the Washington State Department of Health have begun taking action to increase the availability of in-language guidance related to wildfire smoke. However, continued investments by these agencies and others are necessary to ensure King County residents with limited English proficiency and residents who do not speak English have access to this translated information.

There is an existing wealth of information on the health risks of wildfire smoke and guidance that has been developed by federal, state, and regional agencies and organizations. However, information developed at higher levels of government and by national organizations is often not translated into the range of languages commonly spoken by King County populations.



Figure 4. Langauge accessible risk communications.

This action encourages jurisdictions to work to ensure available information on air quality and actions residents can take to protect their health during wildfire smoke episodes is translated into languages spoken by residents. This action also encourages increasing the use of multi-media, multi-lingual and ethnic media outlets to help deliver in-language information to effectively reach these populations. Towards this end, PHSKC recently produced community educational videos in multiple languages to raise awareness of actions that can be taken to help residents reduce their exposure to poor air quality during wildfire smoke events. Leveraging video and in-language voice overs to further overcome barriers that can otherwise arise from limited language literacy.

Increasing the availability of in-language air quality information and guidance helps reduce the potential for public health disparities resulting from

language access barriers during wildfire smoke episodes. However, to accomplish this

outcome, it is necessary to ensure messaging and guidance is translated and made available well in advance of the onset of wildfire smoke season.

In-language messaging campaigns must begin early enough in the season to ensure residents have ample time to make any necessary investments and acquire any needed resources to help them be prepared for when wildfire smoke arrives.

Potential collaborators:

Multi-lingual and ethnic media outlets; community-based and faith-based orgnaizations; local, state, and federal public health agencies; municipalities; local, state, and federal emergency management agencies; local clean air agencies; state and federal environmental protection agencies; state labor and industry agencies

Implementation Feasibility:



PGI-3: Provide educational outreach and equipment demonstrations at community events and resource fairs.

Action Description:

This action encourages jurisdictions to engage in direct in-person outreach and engagement, and to provide demonstrations to community members on the use of technologies, equipment, and other resources that can be used to help protect people's health during periods of poor air quality due to wildfire smoke.



Figure 5. Low-cost PurpleAir Outdoor Air Sensor.

Several of the protective actions residents can take to reduce potential health impacts resulting from smoke exposure rely on the use of equipment, technologies, or other resources that they may be previously unfamiliar with, such as high efficiency particulate air (HEPA) portable air cleaners, air quality sensors, and proper use of facial respirator masks. There are many items that, when used correctly, can significantly protect an individual's health during a wildfire smoke episode. However,

if used incorrectly, they may have a negligible benefit and may actually increase an individual's risk by providing a false sense of protection. While guidance and information can go a long way towards helping familiarize people with new equipment and technologies, one of the most effective ways to teach about its proper use is by conducting in-person outreach and engagement, where residents can see and experience first-hand demonstrations of resources.

Tabling and participating at community events, resource fairs, and farmers markets can increase residents' familiarity with the various resources available to help protect their health and how to effectively use these resources. This enables them to navigate and select the right resources for their unique needs and circumstances with the confidence of knowing how to use these resources. Furthermore, by engaging in direct in-person outreach and engagement, community members can have the opportunity to speak directly to experts who may be able to help address their individual questions or concerns.

Potential collaborators:

Local businesses; community-based and faith-based orgnaizations; municipalities; local, state, and federal public health agencies; local and state community and human service agencies; local clean air agencies; local, state, and federal parks and recreation agencies; state and federal environmental protection agencies; state labor and industry agencies.

Implementation Feasibility:

Easy

PGI-4: Provide train-the-trainer opportunities for building community capacity and workforce opportunities in the mitigation of health impacts.

Action Description:

This action calls for the expansion of services that provide communities opportunities for meaningful engagement and conversations with subject matter experts that build community capacity to be prepared for wildfire smoke episodes. This action can be accomplished by developing train-the-trainer courses and programs that can be periodically offered to interested members of the public and organizations on various topics related to air quality and wildfire smoke, including but not limited to:

- Ambient (outdoor) air quality monitoring.
- Indoor air quality (IAQ), IAQ monitoring techniques, and interventions for improving IAQ.
- Individual health factors that contribute to health risk of wildfire smoke.
- Administrative and occupational exposure mitigation.
- Respiratory protection and fit testing.
- Building ventilation and filtration systems and performance audits to aid in the identification and verification of facilities that may serve as cleaner air sites during wildfire smoke episodes.

Train-the-trainer learning opportunities can help develop the communications network necessary to bring awareness to the health risks associated with wildfire smoke exposure and actions individuals can take to reduce its potential health impacts. Providing in-depth



Figure 6. Community members participate in a workshop.

learning opportunities for interested community members and organizations to engage with subject matter experts through two-way dialogue and discussion builds the capacity for those individuals and enables organizations to better support their communities. The goal of providing training opportunities for community members and organizations is to empower them with the knowledge and skills to support their communities while also adapting the delivery of that

knowledge into culturally appropriate and relevant ways, or into existing services that are already being provided.

This model has already been employed with great success by Public Health – Seattle & King County (PHSKC) through its box fan filter kit distribution efforts from 2020 through 2023, and through the development of a pilot Clean Air Ambassador Program funded by the National Association of City and County Health Officials (NACCHO) and the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in 2022. During these efforts, PHSKC engaged with over 40 community-based and faith-based organizations to provide train-the-trainer learning opportunities on the basics of indoor air quality and the importance of using air filtration equipment during wildfire smoke episodes.

The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Weather-Ready Nation (WRN) Ambassadors[™] initiative also serves as an example of how train-the-trainer programs can work. The WRN Ambassador initiative partners with community organizations to train them on weather forecasting and severe weather preparedness. Through these efforts, NOAA builds communication networks to help promote the distribution of messaging and extend community reach, create opportunities for collaboration, share success stories of preparedness and resiliency, and educate member organizations and their staff on the delivery of severe weather preparedness information.

Potential collaborators:

Community-based and faith-based orgnaizations; local school districts and vocational schools; municipalities; local, state, and federal public health agencies; local and state community and human service agencies; local, state, and federal parks and recreation agencies; state and federal environmental protection agencies; state labor and industry agencies; local, state, and federal weather forecasting and monitoring agencies.

Implementation Feasibility:

Moderate

Public Guidance & Information | Action Performance Measures

- Number of co-created educational materials developed in partnership with communities.
- Media formats (e.g., print, digital text, audio, visual) in which educational materials are available.
- Number of educational materials, documents, and guidance translated into multiple languages.
- Number of community outreach and engagement events facilitated and/or attended to provide information on wildfire smoke.

AQM-1: Deploy visual lighting installations at public parks and outdoor assembly areas to display current air quality conditions.

Action Description:

Access to real-time air quality information is essential to enable people to make informed decisions and take proactive measures to protect their health. Localized real-time air quality

information is especially important when it comes to making decisions about participation and engagement in outdoor activities and events during periods of poor air quality due to wildfire smoke. Visual art installations at public parks and outdoor assembly areas that display current air quality conditions can provide access to vital information that can be used to help people understand their potential health risk, while helping to reduce disparities for those who many otherwise not have access to digital technologies necessary to access real-time air quality information.



Figure 7. Air quality visual lighting display.

There are a range of low-cost air quality sensors

available that can provide real-time air quality data. When properly deployed and maintained, low-cost sensors can help provide access to locally accurate and reliable air quality information. By integrating RGB-LED lighting systems that correspond to the Air Quality Index (AQI) values into the deployment of sensors at public parks and outdoor assembly areas, real-time air quality information can be made publicly visible and be used to help enable the ability of individuals to make real-time decisions regarding their health based upon current air quality conditions.

Making air quality sensor AQI lighting displays into visual art installations can help to further increase public interest and awareness of these new features as they are deployed. Offering opportunities for local artists and community members to engage in placemaking through the development of community art. While helping to ensure the visual integration of air quality sensor AQI lighting displays into the visual aesthetics of existing areas.

This action highlights the deployment of public AQI lighting displays at parks and places of outdoor assembly. However, this action is not intended to be limited to those settings, and deployment of such visual AQI lighting displays should be encouraged in any outdoor setting where it may be feasible and appropriate to make such access to real-time air quality

information publicly visible and available. Additional considerations include public transit stations, outdoor sporting and concert venues, locations providing services to people experiencing homelessness, and outdoor common areas on private property accessible to the public.

Potential collaborators:

Municipalities; local, state, and federal parks and recreation agencies; outdoor sporting, event, and concert venues; local businesses; local school districts; local libraries; local, state, and federal public health agencies; local clean air agencies; local, state, and federal weather forecasting and monitoring agencies; state and federal environmental protection agencies; state labor and industry agencies.

Implementation Feasibility:

Hard

AQM-2: Develop guidance on how to use air quality information from available forecasts and low-cost sensors to inform decision-making during wildfire smoke episodes.

Action Description:

This action recommends that state and local public health agencies work together to develop standardized guidance on how to access, navigate, and obtain credible and reliable localized data on air quality conditions to ensure data-informed and defensible decisions during wildfire smoke episodes. This strategy encourages regional coordination through the Washington Smoke Impacts Advisory Group (WSIAG) to help establish a consistent approach and best practices for accessing, navigating, and verifying the credibility of air quality data. Creating a regionally consistent process that can accommodate the use of data obtained from both regulatory air quality monitoring stations and low-cost sensors to support decision-making involving labor protections, outdoor recreation and commerce, and the mobilization and activation of emergency services such as the opening of cleaner air sites.

There are many sources of wildfire smoke information now available, from both trusted reliable government experts to potentially less vetted information, such as from weather sites, phone apps, and low-cost sensors (see section 4.7 for more information on wildfire smoke air quality monitoring and forecasting). With so many different sources of air quality information available during periods of wildfire smoke, decision makers can get confused and could benefit from additional guidance to help navigate the different sources.

Guidance could support informed decision making by emergency managers, as well as employers, event organizers, athletic organizations, youth camp directors, school districts, and others. These actions include, but are not limited to:

- outdoor labor protections,
- relocation or cancelation of outdoor activities and events,
- emergency management triggers for implementation proactive mitigation measures, such as opening cleaner air sites and expanding services for people living unsheltered.



Figure 8. Outdoor worker at construction site.

Decision makers need accessible, accurate, and defensible information. Regulatory grade air quality monitoring stations are the goldstandard for current air quality data. However, low-cost air quality sensors have played an important role to fill in gaps between existing regulatory air quality monitoring stations, particularly areas within the wildland-urban interface (see section 4.7.3 for additional information on low-cost air quality sensors). Guidance on which data

is most recent, accurate, and representative can help decision makers make more informed decisions.

A few examples of the many sources of wildfire smoke information come from local and state health departments, federal, state, and local air agencies, including the Puget Sound Clean Air Agency Sensor Map, and EPA AirNow Fire and Smoke map, and the WA State Smoke Blog. Additionally, some low-cost sensors are more reliable or available than others and understanding the details on how accurate these sensors are could also benefit decision makers.

Potential collaborators:

Local, state, and federal public health agencies; local clean air agencies; state and federal environmental protection agencies; state and federal labor and industry agencies.

Implementation Feasibility:

Moderate

AQM-3: Provide participatory youth STEAM engagement opportunities in air quality monitoring.

Action Description:

To help prepare youth to navigate a future in which decision-making regarding day-to-day activities is likely to be increasingly influenced by fluctuations in air quality conditions, this action promotes the development of opportunities for youth engagement in STEAM (science, technology, engineering, arts and mathematics) education opportunities to participate in air quality monitoring efforts across the region. As the frequency and severity of wildfires is anticipated to increase as a result of climate change, younger generations are likely going to experience more frequent impacts to their air quality due to wildfire smoke than older generations.

STEAM is an educational approach to help guide inquiry, dialogue, critical thinking, and problem solving. By offering youth programs that facilitate STEAM learning opportunities, the aim is to help prompt lifelong interest in arts and sciences. Through development of youth STEAM engagement opportunities that focus on air quality and involving youth in opportunities to participate in air quality monitoring efforts, these programs can help increase the number of individuals trained and knowledgeable on issues related to air quality from a young age. By emphasizing a STEAM approach that incorporates the arts,



Figure 9. Students engage in hands-on STEAM learning activities.

it will be possible to engage a broader range of individuals than by just focusing on the technical aspects alone.

Additionally, this action encourages the exploration and identification of opportunities to place air quality monitoring stations in locations that are publicly owned and already provide youth educational programming, such as, but not limited to, schools, libraries, and community centers.

Potential collaborators:

Local school districts; local libraries; youth-based community service organizations; local, state, and federal public health agencies; local clean air agencies; state and federal environmental protection agencies; local, state, and federal parks and recreation agencies.

Implementation Feasibility:

Moderate

Air Quality Monitoring & Warnings | Action Performance Measures

- Development of public guidance on the use of air quality data sources to inform defensible decision making related to employee safety, and hosting of outdoor events and activities during wildfire smoke.
- Development of design and quality assurance project plan (QAPP) guidelines for voluntary development and deployment of public air quality displays.
- Number of STEAM educational opportunities to engage youth and communities in air quality monitoring efforts.

INDOOR AIR QUALITY & BUILT ENVIRONMENTS

IAQ-1: Support distribution of portable air cleaners, indoor air quality sensors, and weatherization resources to frontline communities and low-income residents leveraging community partnerships with community-based and faith-based organizations.

Action Description:

This action encourages the development of partnerships with community-based organizations (CBOs) and faith-based organizations (FBOs) to support the logistics of getting these resources to residents most in need. Many CBOs and FBOs are already engaged in providing support services within their respective communities. Through partnerships, these

organizations are often capable of providing more meaningful engagement during the distribution of resources when integrated as part of their existing service models than what is achievable through bulk distribution by public sector agencies. Furthermore, by integrating distribution of resources with the delivery of existing community services, CBOs and FBOs may be able to help ensure that resources reach those most in need and can do so more rapidly than programs that rely upon strict recipient assessment and qualification processes.



Figure 10. Woman changes filter in portable air cleaner.

The most effective resources immediately available to King County residents to protect their health during

wildfire smoke episodes are portable air cleaners (PACs) equipped with a (HEPA) filter. These units are capable of removing 99.97% of fine particulate matter from the air and come in multiple sizes that can be used individually or in conjunction with each other to provide a clean air delivery rate (CADR) that matches the volume of air in nearly any indoor space. The health benefits of using a PAC can be further increased when paired with other resources, such as an indoor air quality sensor that allows residents to observe changes in their indoor air quality and serves as a cue for taking certain actions, or weatherization resources that help seal gaps and drafts around doors and windows to prevent smoke from infiltrating into homes.

Together, PACs, indoor air quality sensors, and weatherization resources present a powerful toolkit that is readily available and can be applied in almost any space. However, the expense of these resources presents a disproportionate barrier to access among frontline

communities and low-income residents. This action encourages the purchasing, temporary storage, and distribution of these resources to frontline communities and low-income residents through partnerships with community-based and faith-based organizations.

Implementation of this action will require consideration of bulk procurement processes, temporary storage or warehousing, and distribution logistics in addition to coordination of community partnerships and communications. However, this action presents one of the most readily available and effective universally applicable strategies that can be used to reduce the risks of exposure during wildfire smoke episodes. It also provides numerous cobenefits through more generalized improvements in indoor air quality.

Potential collaborators:

Community-based and faith-based organizations; municipalities; local businesses; local and state public health agencies; local and state community and human service agencies; regional housing authorities; local libraries; state enviornmtnal protection agencies; healthcare service providers.

Implementation Feasibility:

Hard

IAQ-2: Increase equitable access to workforce development and vocational training opportunities related to indoor air quality assessment and heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) system maintenance and installation.

Action Description:

Improvements in how buildings and homes perform during wildfire smoke episodes are necessary to reduce the potential impacts of wildfire smoke on our health. However, because each building is often unique, the actions necessary to improve indoor air quality need to be uniquely tailored, installed, and maintained. Therefore, carrying out these actions is often very time intensive and typically requires the use of trained, certified, and sometimes licensed professionals to complete. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics⁴ generally defines this category of professionals as Heating, Air Conditioning, and Refrigeration Mechanics and Installers, and projects that demand in this industry will continue to grow over the decade.⁵

⁴ Sector growth patterns

⁵ (Bureau of Labor Statistics, n.d.)

To meet this need, the workforce of trained, certified, and licensed professionals in Heating, Air Condition, and Refrigeration Mechanics and Installers must either be locally increased or outsourced. This action aims to increase the workforce of trained, certified, and licensed professionals in this field and other allied professions related to the implementation of renewable energies and energy conservation measures, through the routine offering of workforce development and public sector vocational training opportunities. Furthermore, the goal of this action is to increase equitable access among frontline communities to technical trade programs by offsetting participation costs and helping pair participants with employment upon program completion.

This action requires the development of multiple public-private partnerships for the delivery of workforce development and vocational training opportunities. In addition, this action will likely require the utilization of public awareness campaigns to help raise awareness of emergent opportunities in technical trade professions, as well as focused advertisement of program offerings to frontline communities and low-income residents. Finally, this action



Figure 11. HVAC technician completes installation of ductless heat pump.

calls for the establishment of a registry for any participants of workforce development and vocational training opportunities. This would support the ability to follow up with program participants to obtain feedback for continuous improvement and provide linkage and referral to professional openings and opportunities.

Potential collaborators:

Local school districts and vocational schools; trade unions; workforce development programs; local planning and

community development agencies; local parks and recreation agencies.

Implementation Feasibility:

Moderate

IAQ-3: Assess and identify publicly accessible buildings, including facilities operated by homeless service providers, capable of serving as cleaner air sites during wildfire smoke episodes through a certification and placarding process.

Action Description:

During wildfire smoke episodes, people are often directed to reduce time spent outdoors and stay indoors. Unfortunately, not all residents have access to air filtration equipment or other means of improving their indoor air quality. They may need to seek refuge elsewhere during periods of poor air quality caused by wildfire smoke. To improve public wayfinding to locations that can offer cleaner air during wildfire smoke episodes, this action encourages the assessment and pre-identification of publicly accessible



Figure 12. Busy crowds navigate their way through city.

buildings and the use of placarding that can designate and help communicate which buildings are capable of serving as cleaner air sites.

Because not all buildings are properly equipped with systems that can reduce exposure to particulate matter, an assessment is necessary to determine if a building is capable of offering its occupants better air quality during wildfire smoke episodes. In recognition of this need, the American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) developed ASHRAE Guideline 44, "Protecting Building Occupants from Smoke During Wildfire and Prescribed Burn Events." This guideline provides a planning framework to assist building managers take the steps necessary to ensure facilities are properly equipped to reduce health impacts among building occupants during periods of poor air quality. This action entails the use of ASHRAE Guideline 44, or similar guidance or standards related to indoor air quality filtration and performance, as a basis for conducting standardized assessments of publicly accessible buildings. The guidance includes the implementation of a third-party certification and a placarding system for buildings that have been verified as having the capability to provide cleaner air quality during wildfire smoke episodes.

The goal of this action is to increase the number of pre-identified publicly accessible buildings, including facilities operated by homeless service providers, that have necessary systems in place to serve as cleaner air sites. Cleaner air site designation placards will make it easier for people to readily identify buildings that have been independently assessed and verified as being capable of offering better indoor air quality during wildfire smoke episodes.



Figure 13. People exiting building.

Efforts to make the necessary facility improvements and upgrades, along with maintenance and operational costs for maintaining and operating systems capable of providing cleaner air, can increase the expenses for building operators. Therefore, this action may need to be paired with other incentive or rebate programs to help offset additional costs associated with obtaining and maintaining a cleaner air site designation, to increase the feasibility and equitable distribution of cleaner air sites throughout the

county. Placarding may aid as an incentive that can help to increase visitation rates of buildings that obtain cleaner air site designations. Other incentives may include seeking out partnerships with energy utility providers to help offset potential increased energy costs associated with the operation of cleaner air sites during wildfire smoke episodes, or using other local tax breaks for building managers who obtain and maintain cleaner air site designation status of their facilities.

Potential collaborators:

American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE); municipalities; local planning and community development agencies; local emergency management agencies; local community and human service agencies; homeless service providers; local, state, and federal parks and recreation agencies; local and state public health agencies; local businesses; building owners and property managers.

Implementation Feasibility:

Hard

Indoor Air Quality & Built Environment | Action Performance Measures

- Number of partnerships formed to support delivery of community indoor air quality assessments, and distribution and installation of air quality mitigation measures.
- Number of publicly identifiable buildings capable of protecting occupants from wildfire smoke, located in areas at high risk of environmental health disparities.

WSR- 1: Establish inventory of deployable air filtration systems to open cleaner air sites.

Action Description:

Pre-identification and designation of locations that can serve as cleaner air sites can be a challenge because wildfire smoke sporadically impacts our air quality and can be hard to predict. Rapid repurposing of an existing facility can also disrupt access to other community services and activities a space is intended to provide. As a result, emergency managers must often make decisions in the moment based upon what spaces are available and accessible when wildfire smoke impacts occur.

To increase the capacity to make cleaner air



Figure 14. Commercial HEPA air cleaner located in reception lobby to improve IAQ.

sites available during wildfire smoke episodes, this action encourages local emergency management agencies to establish an inventory of deployable air filtration units. There are a number of portable air cleaners and industrial commercial air scrubbers available that can be suitable for providing indoor air filtration in spaces ranging from a small room to entire gymnasium. By establishing an inventory of deployable air filtration systems, local emergency managers can ensure that they have the capacity to make cleaner air sites available regardless of whatever site or location may be used. Additionally, this action can serve as a way to enable emergency managers with the ability to augment the indoor air filtration capabilities of existing community and homeless service providers.

Potential collaborators:

Local emergency management agencies; local community and human service agencies; homeless service providers; local parks and recreation departments; local public health agencies; local libraries.

Implementation Feasibility:

Moderate

WSR-2: Make N95 respirators available to unsheltered individuals and people experiencing homelessness during wildfire smoke episodes.

Action Description:

While other actions that reduce population exposure to poor air quality during wildfire smoke episodes are preferable, properly fitted N95 respirator masks can substantively reduce the levels of particulate matter that may be inhaled during wildfire smoke episodes. Even without proper fit-testing, the use of N95 respirator masks, when paired with proper guidance on how to properly wear and use a respirator, can result in moderate reductions in the amount of fine particulate matter that would otherwise be inhaled as a result of exposure. From a harm reduction standpoint,



Figure 15. People experiencing homelessness camped along city sidewalk.

distribution of N95 respirators accompanied by guidance on how to properly wear and use them during wildfire smoke episodes should be considered for populations experiencing homelessness, with a focus on individuals living unsheltered or those who refuse to relocate to a shelter during wildfire smoke episodes.



Figure 16. N95 respirator mask.

Because it can be a challenge to rapidly distribute resources during a period of active wildfire smoke, this action encourages working with homeless service providers to help distribute N95 masks and usage guidance throughout the wildfire smoke season to help ensure people have access to these resources when necessary. In addition, due to potential complications that facial hair can pose to properly fitting an N95 mask, this action would be strengthened by pairing the distribution of these

resources with shaving kits to help residents achieve a proper fit. However, it should be noted and clearly communicated during distribution efforts that use of a N95 mask should be a last resort measure, and that masks should only be used for a limited duration until individuals can relocate to an indoor location capable of providing cleaner air during wildfire smoke episodes.

Potential collaborators:

Homeless service providers and other services people experiencing homelessness access and use; public transit agencies; local parks and recreation departments; local and state public health agencies; local libraries; local emergency management agencies; local community and human service agencies;.

Implementation Feasibility:

Moderate

WSR-3: Increase the number of staff trained and certified as incident management team (IMT) air resource advisors (ARAs).

Action Description:

Air Resource Advisors (ARAs) are a classification of technical specialists established under the Interagency Wildland Fire Air Quality Response Program of the U.S. Forest Service. They are trained to support incident management teams (IMTs) with understanding and predicting smoke impacts on the public and response personnel. ARAs are traditionally deployed to support IMTs engaged in wildfire containment and control efforts. However, as wildfire activity increases and wildfire smoke impacts regions far removed from areas with wildfire activity, there is an increasing need for personnel trained in understanding and predicting smoke impacts.



Figure 17. Smoke plume from active wildfire.

ARAs receive training to provide expertise in air quality science including air quality monitoring, smoke modeling, pollutant health thresholds, and communication about smoke risks and mitigation measures to decision-makers and the public. This action encourages increasing opportunities for local staff to receive training and certification to serve as ARAs to support local emergency response operations during wildfire smoke episodes. Air quality conditions can

rapidly fluctuate during wildfire smoke episodes and vary significantly from location to location. By increasing the number of personnel trained to serve as ARAs that can support local response efforts, this action can help increase the availability at which spatially refined air quality data is available to support decision-making during wildfire smoke episodes. The Interagency Wildland Fire Air Quality Response Program (IWFAQRP) typically offers annual training opportunities for Air Resource Advisors. Additional information on ARA training opportunities can be found online at <u>https://wildlandfiresmoke.net/ara</u>.

Potential collaborators:

U.S. Forest Serivce – Interagency Wildland Fire Air Quality Response Program; state and federal environmental protection agencies; local and state public health agencies; local emergency management agencies; local fire districts; state natural resource and wildfire protection agencies.

Implementation Feasibility:

Moderate

WSR-4: Include severe wildfire smoke as a conditional measure in special and/or temporary event permitting that would require rescheduling or cancelation of outdoor events and activities during periods of severe wildfire smoke.

Action Description:

This action encourages the incorporation of conditional language into temporary and special event permits that would require rescheduling or cancellation of outdoor events that have the potential to draw large crowds of attendees during times of severe wildfire smoke as a force majeure clause.⁶ The aim of this action is that by incorporating conditional language that would include severe wildfire smoke as a force majeure clause in the initial permitting processes of planning for outdoor events, event organizers will have more clarity on thresholds at which restrictions may be put into place that would limit large outdoor gatherings and provide ample time for identification of contingency plans if rescheduling or cancellations arise due to severe wildfire smoke.

Outdoor events and activities during the wildfire smoke season can draw large crowds, which can increase the risk of public exposure to poor air quality during wildfire smoke episodes. Because of this, PHSKC recommends that outdoor event organizers reschedule or cancel outdoor public events and activities when air quality conditions reach Air Quality Index (AQI) values of Very Unhealthy for All or worse. However, because organizers of outdoor events

⁶ A "force majeure" clause is a contractual provision that relieves the parties from performing their contractual obligations when certain circumstances beyond their reasonable control arise, making performance inadvisable or commercially impractical.

are not always connected to emergency management channels of communication, these recommendations may not reach them.



Figure 18. People gather at outdoor concert during Folklife at Seattle Center.

By limiting the occurrence of outdoor events and activities during periods of severe wildfire smoke, this action would limit the potential number of people unnecessarily exposed to harmful environmental conditions. Including severe wildfire smoke as a force majeure clause serves to reduce the potential liability and hold outdoor event organizers harmless for rescheduling or canceling events and performances that otherwise have the potential to draw large crowds. Furthermore, including language on thresholds for cancellation and rescheduling in special and/or

temporary event permits will presumably increase awareness of these thresholds to all parties involved in the organization, hosting, and attendance of outdoor events, and can enable the proactive establishment of conciliatory administrative actions in the event rescheduling or cancelation must occur due to severe wildfire smoke.

Potential collaborators:

Municipalities; special and temporary event permitting agenicies; outdoor event organizers; professional, collegiate, and intermural sports leagues and athletic associations; local, state, and federal parks and recreation agencies; local economic development agencies; local and state public health agenicies; local clean air agenicies; state environmental protection agencies.

Implementation Feasibility:

Hard

Wildfire Smoke Response | Action Performance Measures

- Number of cleaner air sites activated during wildfire smoke episodes to protect occupants from exposure to poor air quality.
- Number of partnerships formed to support distribution of personal protective equipment (PPE) kits to people living unsheltered during wildfire smoke events.
- Inclusion of severe air quality impacts due to wildfire smoke as a force majeure clause for event rescheduling or cancelation in special and temporary event permits for outdoor events.
- Estimated annual economic losses in revenue due to special and temporary event rescheduling or cancelation because of severe impacts to air quality due to wildfire smoke.

UNDERSTANDING THE CHALLENGE: WILDFIRE SMOKE IN THE PACIFIC NORTHWEST

Exposure to wildfire smoke is harmful to human health. Wildfire smoke is comprised of a complex mixture of pollutants, including particulate matter, carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxides, volatile organic compounds (VOCs), as well as many other toxics and trace elements. Its composition will vary from fire to fire depending on fuels, weather, and its duration in the atmosphere.^{7,8,9}



Figure 19. Man experiencing symptoms of eye irritaiton from wildfire smoke exposure.

Symptoms of wildfire smoke exposure can range from headache to sore throat, coughing, burning eyes, dizziness, and wheezing. More serious health complications include asthma, cardiovascular complications, stroke, and kidney failure.^{10,11,12,} Some populations are more sensitive to smoke exposure based on their age or health status, while others may be more impacted based on occupation, such as outdoor workers or environmental inequities due to the lingering effects of historic and institutional racism. Practices such as

redlining and the placement of roads and industrial facilities in closer proximity to communities of color have resulted in higher rates of exposure among these communities in present day to sources of industrial and transportation-related emissions. It is important to prioritize the diverse needs of all of these groups when implementing actions intended to reduce the health risks of wildfire smoke exposure.

The science informing our understanding of wildfire smoke impacts on human health is still evolving. Over the past few years, a proliferation of academic literature and studies have highlighted the elevated risk to public health associated with short-term exposure to elevated concentrations of PM_{2.5} from wildfire smoke. This section provides a brief summary of information available to date (see Appendix B for more detail). However, it is important to

⁷ (Balmes, 2018)

⁸ (Cascio W. E., 2018)

⁹ (Urbanski, Hao, & Baker, 2009)

¹⁰ (Xu, et al., 2022)

¹¹ (Ma, et al., 2023)

¹² (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2023)
note that there are multiple components of wildfire smoke that we are still learning about, including delayed health impacts that occur long after exposure.

4.1 IMPACTS ON PUBLIC HEALTH

The primary pollutant of health concern in wildfire smoke is fine particulate matter known as PM_{2.5.} Comprised of particles that are less than 2.5 microns (µm) in diameter, PM_{2.5} is roughly 20 times smaller than the width of a human hair. Because these particles are so small, they can be inhaled deep into the lungs and enter the bloodstream.¹³ Many of the other pollutants in wildfire smoke are also classified as respiratory carcinogens and can become embedded in PM_{2.5} originating from wildfire smoke.^{14,15}



Figure 20. Graphic illustration of size of PM2.5 in compairison to human hair.

As a result, if exposures to $PM_{2.5}$ from wildfire smoke were equal to that of other more common sources of $PM_{2.5}$, evidence suggests the health impacts of $PM_{2.5}$ from wildfire smoke may be greater than that caused by other sources of $PM_{2.5}$.^{16,17}

Smoke from wildfire activates inflammatory pathways in the body and can cause damage to DNA transcription processes, leading to a range of moderate to severe health impacts.^{18, 19} It has been associated with an increased risk of asthma-related emergency department (ED) visits immediately after and in the days following initial exposure.²⁰ A 2023 study found that approximately 30,108 all-cause deaths per year could be contributed to wildfire smoke exposure.²¹

¹³ (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2023)

¹⁴ (Lopez, Pacheco, & Fendorf, 2023)

¹⁵ (Urbanski, Hao, & Baker, 2009)

¹⁶ (Noah, Worden, Rebuli, & Jaspers, 2023)

¹⁷ (Aguilera, Corringham, Gershunov, & Benmarhnia, 2021)

¹⁸ (Kim, et al., 2018)

¹⁹ (Akids & Nadeau, 2022)

²⁰ (Doubleday, Sheppard, Austin, & Busch Isaksen, 2023)

²¹ (Ma, et al., 2023)

Researchers at the University of Washington have found an association between exposure to wildfire smoke and non-traumatic mortality, with odds of mortality remaining elevated for the first few days following wildfire smoke exposure.²² When further analyzed by subgroups, they identified a 35% increase in odds of same-day respiratory mortality for adults ages 45 – 65 years of age. These findings were observed to occur on days where $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations were greater than 20.4 µg/m³, or when air quality using the U.S. EPA Air Quality Index (AQI) was rated as Moderate or worse.

Furthermore, when it comes to understanding the dose-response curve, or the level at which $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations associated with wildfire smoke can be observed resulting in adverse impacts to human health. Researchers at the British Columbia Center for Disease Control have found that wildfire smoke causes more harm, in terms of acute respiratory impacts, at lower concentrations that occur more frequently than during severe wildfire smoke episodes when $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations are more extreme.²³ Observing in British Columbia, that smoke concentrations over $100\mu g/m^3$ are responsible for less than 20% of asthma-related physician visits, whereas more than 35% of asthma-related physician visits occur at smoke concentrations between 10 and 30 $\mu g/m^3$. Within the range that would be considered Moderate air quality according to the U.S. EPA AQI.

The U.S. EPA recently announced a new $PM_{2.5}$ standard by lowering the annual level of exposure from 12 µg/m³ to 9 µg/m³. For most residents, the result of these changes will be seen by air quality reaching Moderate AQI category (Yellow) more frequently than in the past, and when wildfires are affecting air quality it will reach Very Unhealthy (Purple) or Hazardous (Maroon) categories more often.

Research on clinical health data has helped improve our awareness of some of the more severe health implications of wildfire smoke exposure. However, these findings underestimate the full extent of public health impact caused by exposure to wildfire smoke, as data on smoke-related health impacts such as impaired function, discomfort, and lost work and productivity is not readily available.²⁴ Additionally, a growing number of studies have begun to assess the long-term effects²⁵ and mental health impacts²⁶ of smoke exposure.

²² (Doubleday, et al., 2020)

²³ (Henderson, Nguyen, Yao, & Lee, 2024)

²⁴ (Cascio W. E., 2018)

²⁵ (Noah, Worden, Rebuli, & Jaspers, 2023)

²⁶ (Eisenman & Galway, 2022)

More recent research has begun to indicate higher levels of exposure to fine particulate matter may be associated with greater rates of incident dementia, especially for $PM_{2.5}$ generated from wildfire activity.²⁷ Studies on other sources of $PM_{2.5}$ have similarly begun to draw an association between air pollution and cognitive aging. For example, increased exposure to poor air quality later in life has been found to contribute to more rapid cognitive decline.²⁸

The National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER) projects that climate-driven increases in wildfire smoke could result in 27,800 excess deaths each year by 2050 under a high warming scenario.²⁹ When monetized, NBER estimates that climate-induced deaths from wildfire smoke may result in annual damages of \$244 billion by mid-century. If the health impacts are left unabated, the health costs of climate-driven wildfire smoke could be among the most significant and costly consequences of a warming climate in the U.S.

4.2 POPULATIONS AT RISK

Climate change is a leading cause for the increase in recent wildfire activity across the western U.S.^{30,31,32}, along with other key factors including historical fire suppression and expansion of human activities into forested areas.³³ This means that wildfire smoke impacts on King County communities are likely to become increasingly common. However, the health impacts of wildfire smoke exposure are not borne equitably across the county's population, with factors such as race and socio-economic status playing an important role in the disparate burden of health impacts.^{34,35}



Figure 21. Child uses inhailer to ease asthma symptoms.

When considering wildfire smoke impacts to populations, there are two categories of populations that face greater risk. The first is sensitive populations, such as children, pregnant people, people over 65 years of age, and people with medical conditions that make them more susceptible to health impacts resulting from exposure. The second is populations that are more impacted due to social

- ²⁸ (Younan, et al., 2022)
- ²⁹ (Qui, et al., 2024)
- ³⁰ (Abatzoglou & Williams, 2016)
- ³¹ (Zhuang, Fu, Santer, R.E., & Hall, 2021)
- ³² (Holden, et al., 2018)
- ³³ (Radeloff, et al., 2018)
- ³⁴ (Ma, et al., 2023)
- ³⁵ (Reid, et al., 2023)

²⁷ (Zhang, et al., 2023)

and other environmental stressors that make them more prone to adverse health impacts due to exposure, often referred to as inequities. To develop and appropriately tailor actions that can reduce the health impacts resulting from wildfire smoke exposure, it is important to explore how these factors contribute to population vulnerability.

Sensitivity can be viewed as how susceptible an individual may be to adverse health outcomes when they are exposed to wildfire smoke. The more sensitive an individual is to wildfire smoke, the more likely it is that they will begin developing symptoms at lower concentrations, or when exposed for shorter periods of time than others with less sensitivity. They may also develop more severe symptoms as a result of exposure. An individual's sensitivity to wildfire smoke can be understood primarily based on one's individual health and, secondarily, to individual behavior. Sensitivity differs for each person and can change from year to year. Common factors that can make an individual more sensitive include:

- Age (children and older adults are more sensitive)
- Pregnancy
- Pre-existing health conditions, such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, respiratory infection, hypertension, diabetes, obesity, and mental health disorders

Inequities describe additional stressors an individual may experience that can increase their risk of adverse health impacts from wildfire smoke exposure. Inequities stem from complex social and environmental factors, which can contribute to conditions that increase an individual's sensitivity, such as prevalence of pre-existing medical conditions. These inequities can also influence an individual's ability to take necessary precautions to reduce their risk of exposure. These factors include:

- Occupation
- Socio-economic status
- Housing status
- Communities of color

Understanding the factors that influence population sensitivity and inequity can inform the development of more focused interventions and approaches to reduce health impacts resulting from wildfire smoke exposure.

4.2.1 Age

Age is a prominent factor in determining an individual's sensitivity to wildfire smoke exposure. Both young children and adults 65 years of age and older are generally at higher risk of experiencing health impacts resulting from exposure to wildfire smoke than other age groups.

Lung development continues until people reach 21 years of age,³⁶ meaning anyone under the age of 21 is more susceptible to health impacts resulting from smoke



Figure 22. Young child and elderly adult outdoors.

exposure. However, younger children, particularly those five years old and younger, are at increased risk due to their smaller airways, higher metabolic rate, and ongoing development,³⁷ Children also tend to have increased exposure to wildfire smoke as they spend more time outdoors, breathe more air relative to their body weight than adults, and can have a higher proportion of inhaled particles penetrate deeply into their lungs.^{38,39}

Research on the health impacts of wildfire smoke on older adults (65 years and older) suggests that their increased risk is related to a higher prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed pre-existing health conditions that make them more sensitive to exposure.^{40,41,42} Additionally, important physiological processes in the body decline with age, including immune defense mechanisms, increasing the risk of older adults to short-term smoke exposure.⁴³ Many older adults may also have fixed or lower incomes, limiting their ability to invest in interventions that would otherwise help reduce their exposure. They may also experience social isolation or be dependent upon a care provider for assistance, impacting their ability to use available interventions that can help protect their health during wildfire smoke episodes.⁴⁴

³⁶ (Narayanan, et al., 2012)

³⁷ (Henry, Ospina, Dennett, & Hicks, 2021)

³⁸ (Holm, Miller, & Balmes, 2021)

³⁹ (Bennett, Zeman, & Jarabek, 2007)

⁴⁰ (Zheng, 2023)

⁴¹ (Aguilera, Corringham, Gershunov, & Benmarhnia, 2021)

⁴² (Kim, Knowles, Manley, & Radoias, 2017)

⁴³ (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2024)

⁴⁴ (Melton, De Fries, Smith, & Mason, 2023)

4.2.2 Pregnancy

There is increasing evidence that wildfire smoke exposure during pregnancy increases risk of poor birth outcomes. Exposure to wildfire smoke during late pregnancy has been found to be associated with reduced birth weight and preterm birth, likely due to a combination of air pollution and psychological stress.⁴⁵ One pathway that links poor air quality to poor birth outcomes is the effect exposure to fine particulate matter has on pulmonary and placental inflammation during pregnancy. This affects gas and nutrition exchange and reduces the level of oxygen available to the fetus.^{46,47,48} Ongoing research by the University of Southern California MADRES Center



Figure 23. Pregnant woman outdoors wearing N95 mask.

suggests that there may be a critical window during which exposure to ambient air pollution may affect in utero fetal growth. In particular, exposure to particulate matter in early to midpregnancy, between the 1st and 23rd week of gestation, may have critical implications for fetal growth.⁴⁹

4.2.3 Pre-existing health conditions

Pre-existing health conditions can greatly increase an individual's health risk resulting from wildfire smoke exposure, particularly ailments related to the respiratory, cardiovascular, or renal systems of the body.^{50,51,52,53,54} To date, the most well-established relationships between pre-existing health conditions and higher risk of adverse health outcomes following wildfire smoke exposure are associated with adult and pediatric asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, diabetes, hypertension, and obesity.^{55,56,57,58,59,60} Some health impacts resulting from aggravation of preexisting health conditions occur immediately following

- ⁵⁵ (Stowell, et al., 2019)
- ⁵⁶ (Bateson & Schwartz, 2004)

⁴⁵ (Amjad, Chojecki, Osornio-Vargas, & Ospina, 2021)

⁴⁶ (Ghazi, Naidoo, & Chuturgoon, 2021)

⁴⁷ (Saenen, et al., 2019)

⁴⁸ (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2024)

⁴⁹ (Peterson, et al., 2022)

⁵⁰ (Noah, Worden, Rebuli, & Jaspers, 2023)

⁵¹ (Henry, Ospina, Dennett, & Hicks, 2021)

⁵² (Doubleday, Sheppard, Austin, & Busch Isaksen, 2023)

⁵³ (Liu, et al., 2021)

⁵⁴ (Xi, et al., 2020)

⁵⁷ (Mashin, Cabaj, & Saini, 2022)

⁵⁸ (Siregar, Idiawati, Pan, & Yu, 2022)

⁵⁹ (Reid, et al., 2016)

^{60 (}Jung, et al., 2024)

exposure, such as respiratory impacts, while others may lag and occur several days following exposure, such as cardiovascular impacts.⁶¹ While multiple studies have established the relationship between wildfire smoke and cardiorespiratory symptoms in terms of emergency room visits and hospital admissions,⁶² gaps remain in our understanding of the total sub-acute and sub-clinical health impacts of wildfire smoke exposure.⁶³



Figure 24. Elderly man outdoors experiencing chest pain.

Limited research has been conducted assessing the effect of wildfire smoke exposure on mental health. However, from the limited studies that have been done, emerging evidence is beginning to suggest that exposure to episodes of chronic and persistent wildfire smoke may be associated with increases in anxiety, depression, and disrupted or poor sleep.^{64, 65, 66} While preliminary in nature, this information begins to indicate a likelihood of increased sensitivity for individuals with existing mental health conditions, and an increased risk of adverse

mental health outcomes resulting from exposure.

4.2.4 Occupation

Occupation has a significant influence on how much air pollution an individual may be exposed to during wildfire smoke episodes. Individuals who work outdoors, or in settings that require routine exposure to outdoor conditions, generally will experience higher levels of exposure to wildfire smoke than people who work in indoor settings.

In 2024, the Washington State Department of Labor & Industries (WA L&I) enacted new



Figure 25. Outdoor workers at construction site.

<u>permanent rules on wildfire smoke</u> to protect outdoor workers during wildfire smoke events. These rules establish requirements for employers to help reduce outdoor workers' exposure while performing their job. The new rules require employers to routinely monitor outdoor air

⁶¹ (Doubleday, Sheppard, Austin, & Busch Isaksen, 2023)

⁶² (Youssouf, et al., 2014)

⁶³ (Cascio W. E., 2018)

⁶⁴ (Eisenman & Galway, 2022)

^{65 (}Rodney, et al., 2021)

⁶⁶ (Mirabelli, Vaidyanathan, Pennington, Ye, & Trenga, 2022)

quality, train and educate employees on the health risks of wildfire smoke exposure, and provide cleaner air areas and spaces where outdoor employees can seek temporary reprieve from wildfire smoke. Employers must now also make N95 filtering facepiece respirators (FFR) or other National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH)-approved respirators readily available to employees when smoke is present and provide reasonable accommodations for individuals with pre-existing health conditions that may make them more sensitive to wildfire smoke exposure.

When worn with a proper fit, an FFR such as an N95 can achieve a 10-fold reduction in wildfire smoke exposure.⁶⁷ However, the benefits of using an N95 FFR can range significantly, from a 90% reduction in exposure when properly fitted, to near 0% reduction if poorly fitted due to factors such as face shape and size, facial hair, improper use, or discontinuation of use due to discomfort.⁶⁸ As a result, other administrative measures such as staying indoors or avoiding heavy or prolonged physical activity may prove more effective at protecting outdoor workers during wildfire smoke events. A 2018 assessment on the benefits of various protective measures observed that staying indoors alone can achieve approximately a 50% reduction in exposure, but as previously discussed, building characteristics can result in wide fluctuations in the level of protection that staying indoors can provide. Actions aimed at avoiding heavy or prolonged physical activity were found to lower the levels of pollutants inhaled during wildfire smoke episodes, especially for outdoor workers, as pulmonary ventilation rates can increase 10- to 20-fold during heavy exertion. This makes this an effective method of preventing adverse health outcomes during wildfire smoke episodes.⁶⁹

4.2.5 Socio-economic status

Socio-economic status also has an important influence on the health outcomes experienced during wildfire smoke episodes. Communities of lower socio-economic status often experience higher baseline levels of exposure to air pollution. This contributes to higher prevalence of pre-existing health conditions that can make individuals more sensitive to wildfire smoke exposure.^{70,71,72}

Socio-economic status is also closely associated with the quality and condition of the built environment where people live. As discussed earlier, the protective qualities of indoor environments can vary significantly during wildfire smoke episodes. Lower-income households often experience higher levels indoor air pollution (when compared to higherincome households) during wildfire smoke episodes even when outdoor pollution levels are

⁶⁷ (Sbihi, 2014)

^{68 (}Laumbach, 2019)

⁶⁹ (Laumbach, 2019)

⁷⁰ (Hajat, Hsia, & O'Neil, 2015)

⁷¹ (Morello-Frosch R. , 2002)

^{72 (}Banzhaf, Ma, & Timmins, 2019)

similar.⁷³ While strategies exist to reduce smoke infiltration and improve filtration of indoor air, the costs associated with the installation and use of these strategies can be cost prohibitive for lower-income households, and renters may face additional barriers due to constraints in their ability to modify their homes due to lease terms and conditions.⁷⁴

4.2.6 Housing status

According to PHSKC's Healthcare for the Homeless Network, in 2023 there were an estimated 40,000 people experiencing homelessness in King County. While people experiencing homelessness generally face greater health disparities than the general population, less is known about the health of people who live unsheltered – sleeping in a place not intended for human habitation, such as cars, parks, sidewalks, abandoned buildings, or tents – in comparison to their sheltered counterparts. Whereas some people experiencing homeless service providers, unsheltered individuals presumably experience additional health burdens relating to their exposure to weather, pollution, poor sanitation, exploitation, and the possibility of violence.⁷⁵ As a result, unsheltered individuals are more likely to experience adverse health impacts than individuals experiencing homelessness who are able to access services made available by homeless service providers.



Figure 26. People experiencing homelessness camped under highway.

According to a 2023 study assessing the social vulnerabilities of U.S. communities affected by wildfire smoke, Washington state, among several western states, witnessed over a 200% increase in the number of days people experiencing homelessness were exposed to heavy smoke between 2017 – 2021 in comparison to 2011 – 2015.⁷⁶ However, to date limited studies have assessed the unique health risks of people experiencing homelessness during wildfire smoke events.⁷⁷ People experiencing homelessness, in particularly those living

unsheltered, experience a disparate risk of exposure to poor air quality during wildfire smoke episodes. People experiencing homelessness already face challenges associated with a lack of regular shelter availability, and often struggle with a lack of access to information

⁷³ (Krebs & Neidell, 2024)

⁷⁴ (Colmer, Hardman, Shimshack, & Voorheis, 2020)

⁷⁵ (Richards & Kuhn, 2023)

⁷⁶ (Lappe, Vargo, & Conlon, 2023)

⁷⁷ (Schwarz, et al., 2022)

and resources to adequately prepare for and respond to wildfire smoke impacts on air quality.⁷⁸

4.2.7 Communities of color

Institutional racism has contributed to the presence of significant health disparities in King County. Where historic practices of redlining that denied people access to financial services based on their race, ethnicity, or where they lived, contributed to the segregation of communities that persists today. The siting of industrial land use sites more frequently in communities of color, in conjunction with closer proximity to high-traffic volume roadways and regional transportation hubs, has resulted in disproportionate exposure to air pollutants among communities of color.^{79,80} Causing higher prevalence rates of pre-existing health conditions due to routine exposure to poor air quality that contribute to higher



Figure 27. African-American man in wheelchair accessing information on computer.

sensitivities to wildfire smoke. Income disparities can also result in limitations in selfdetermination of housing choices and limitations in the ability to afford access to interventions, such as portable air cleaners, that can reduce exposure to air pollution during wildfire smoke episodes.

4.3 BEHAVIOR & RISK PERCEPTION

The behavior of individuals and their perception of the risks associated with wildfire smoke exposure is one of the greatest factors that influence their level of exposure. Behavior refers to the way in which people act in response to a particular situation and is determined by an individual's awareness, perception, access, and ability. Socio-economic conditions can influence an individual or household's access to and ability to utilize interventions that can help reduce exposure to wildfire smoke. Individuals vary in their knowledge and beliefs about the health risks posed by wildfire smoke, which influences the level of proactive actions they may take to protect their health.^{81,82}

Risk perception commonly refers to an individual's perceived susceptibility to a hazard or threat. The higher the perceived risk, the more likely an individual is to seek out information

⁷⁸ (Lappe, Vargo, & Conlon, 2023)

⁷⁹ (Liu, et al., 2021)

⁸⁰ (Morello-Frosch & Lopez, 2006)

⁸¹ (Santana, Gonzalez, & Wong-Parodi, 2021)

^{82 (}Rappold, et al., 2019)

and take action to reduce their risk. When making decisions about health, individuals generally navigate the choices they make by weighing the risk of consequences with the benefits of acting, where motivation is driven in part by the perceived probability that a health impact will otherwise result.^{83,84,85} In behavioral motivation theory, individual decision-making is driven by three critical components that include 1) the perceived magnitude or severity of a hazard, 2) the probability of occurrence, and 3) the perceived efficacy of a protective response.⁸⁶ Furthermore, an individual's perception of risk is generally influenced by what information is most readily available and the frequency in which a threat is represented in media.^{87,88}

While individuals may perceive wildfire smoke as a risk to their health, they may be less motivated to take actions that extend beyond simple measures, such as staying indoors to reduce exposure, and may not grasp the full extent exposure to wildfire smoke may impact their health. This was exemplified in a 2020 study on mortality associated with wildfire smoke exposure in Washington state assessing health outcome data between 2006 and 2017, which observed that the highest increase in odds of same-day respiratory mortality occurred among adults ages 45-65.⁸⁹ This highlights the occurrence of severe health



Figure 28. Woman jogging outdoors in smokey conditions.

outcomes among an age cohort that had previously not been considered to be a vulnerable age group. One hypothesis for this observation is that individuals within this age range may consider themselves to be young and healthy and do not perceive themselves to be at risk to wildfire smoke exposure and are thus less likely to take actions to protect their health during smoke episodes.

Other behaviors and household activities can also increase an individual's risk of

experiencing adverse health outcomes during wildfire smoke events. For instance, individuals who smoke are predisposed to having decreased lung capacity, making them more susceptible to acute health impacts resulting from wildfire smoke exposure.⁹⁰ Routine

- ⁸⁵ (Ferrer & Klein, 2015)
- 86 (Rogers, 1975)
- ⁸⁷ (Tversky & Kahneman, 1973)
- ⁸⁸ (Slovic, 1987)
- ⁸⁹ (Doubleday, et al., 2020)
- ⁹⁰ (Mirabelli, et al., 2009)

⁸³ (Rogers, 1975)

⁸⁴ (Becker, 1974)

household activities such as cooking and cleaning with chemical sprays can also contribute to poor indoor air quality. When these activities coincide with wildfire smoke episodes, it can further increase the level of air pollution individuals may be subjected to, as common methods used to increase ventilation, such as opening windows, may not be viable.

Having access to information necessary to enable individuals to make informed decisions regarding their behavior and activities during wildfire smoke episodes is paramount to mitigating health impacts that can otherwise occur because of exposure. Education tends to be one of the most effective intervention methods towards reducing adverse health impacts, as it can enhance risk perception levels and maximize the transformation of perception into actions and behaviors that can prevent impacts to health.⁹¹ This is especially true for the health impacts posed by wildfire smoke, as people may struggle to differentiate it from other



Figure 29. Accessing air quality information online.

sources of air pollution and downplay their risk due to the perceived "natural" origin of wildfire smoke.⁹²

4.4 INDOOR AIR QUALITY: CAPABILITIES OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT

The average adult in the U.S. spends approximately 90% of their time indoors.⁹³ Because of this, research suggests that indoor air quality is more indicative of an individual's level of exposure to wildfire smoke than measures of outdoor air quality.⁹⁴ According to the American Lung Association, levels of indoor air pollution can be two to five times higher than outdoor levels across the U.S. Therefore, the use of ventilation with clean outdoor air is generally one of the best strategies to obtain healthy indoor air. However, during periods of wildfire smoke, this common best practice has the inverse effect, and it is best to reduce outdoor air infiltration, and increase indoor air filtration.

Fine particulate matter from wildfires can enter indoor environments through openings and small gaps around doors, windows, and utility access points due to pressure and temperature differences between outdoor and indoor environments.⁹⁵ As smoke makes its way into indoor environments over time (referred to as infiltration), without effective

⁹¹ (Lou, et al., 2021)

⁹² (Macey, 2008)

^{93 (}U.S. EPA, 2023)

^{94 (}Lou, Weng, Xu, & Sun, 2019)

⁹⁵ (Humphrey, et al., 2020)

processes to remove smoke from indoor air, it can reach outdoor concentrations within a matter of a few hours, and levels that are considered harmful to health.

There is a range of factors that influence infiltration of smoke into buildings due to differences in weatherization, ventilation, and operation. Key variables regarding the design, construction, operation, and maintenance of buildings significantly influence their indoor air quality and performance during smoke episodes.

4.4.1 Smoke infiltration into indoor environments

The infiltration rate at which smoke enters our indoor environments is influenced by building characteristics including age, condition, presence and type of ventilation system(s) or air filtration system(s).⁹⁶ Newer buildings are typically better sealed and have lower infiltration rates due to changes in building codes and improvements in insulation and energy efficiency. Older buildings are often less sealed and have higher rates of infiltration.^{97,98}

Ventilation also has a significant role and can contribute to infiltration in two different ways, depending on the type of ventilation system:

Natural ventilation – relies upon opening doors or windows to allow a flow of external air into an indoor space, leveraging the dynamics of natural forces. Because natural ventilation relies on allowing a free exchange between indoor and outdoor air, buildings that rely on the use of natural ventilation for passive cooling can have high infiltration rates, resulting in higher risk of occupant exposure to wildfire smoke than buildings that utilize mechanical ventilation systems with filters.

Mechanical ventilation – relies upon mechanical systems, such as an exhaust fan typically found in a kitchen or bathroom and heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) systems with an outdoor air intake and mechanical supply fan. Because these systems employ fans that can generate a high throughput of air, referred to as air flow, they can employ the use of filtration through a mesh of varying materials (referred to as filter media) to trap particles passing through them. This potentially reduces the infiltration of wildfire smoke.

The type of use a building is intended for and behavior of its occupants also are important factors that influence smoke infiltration rates. As noted above, natural ventilation can often be used for passive cooling, especially during hotter times of the year that tend to coincide with peak wildfire season. For many residents without air conditioning, there may be no other option to avoid the risk of overheating; however, doing so during episodes of wildfire smoke increases their exposure. Buildings that have higher occupancy rates may also be

⁹⁶ (Chen & Zhao, 2011)

⁹⁷ (Xiang, et al., 2021)

⁹⁸ (Reisen, Powell, Dennekamp, Johnston, & Wheeler, 2019)

subject to increased smoke infiltration rates as people come and go more frequently, with smoke making its way indoors each time someone enters or exits a building.



Figure 30. Mechanical ventilation ducting.

Actions that focus on improvements, such as closing dampers on the outdoor intakes of mechanical ventilation systems, and weatherization of existing structures, can help to reduce smoke infiltration rates. However, even in relatively airtight buildings and homes indoor pollutant levels will still increase over time, elevating the importance of indoor air

filtration, especially during extended wildfire smoke episodes.⁹⁹ Making improvements that reduce infiltration rates alone may not be enough to reduce occupant exposure to harmful levels of air pollution.¹⁰⁰ but they can provide an opportunity to better control indoor air quality when wildfire smoke occurs. Care must also be taken to not reduce air exchange in buildings so much that humidity and indoor pollutant levels reach problem levels. High humidity is the key driver for mold growth, which can be a serious indoor air quality problem.

4.4.2 Filtration of indoor air

To remove wildfire smoke from indoor air it is necessary to use a filter media that is rated to remove the smallest particles ($0.3 - 1.0\mu$ m) that are most common in wildfire smoke. Filter media (here forward referred to as filters) are generally defined by the level at which they can remove particulates from the air, otherwise known as their minimum efficiency reporting values (MERV). Filter MERV ratings range from 1-16, defined by the American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE) Standard 52.2.¹⁰¹ As MERV ratings increase from 1 to 16, so does the effectiveness of filters at removing particles, with filtration of the smallest particles and highest removal rates achieved by those with a rating of MERV-13 and higher.¹⁰²

When preparing for wildfire smoke, filters with a rating of MERV-13 or higher are recommended to effectively reduce occupant exposure as these units can remove as much

⁹⁹ (Rajagopalan & Goodman, 2021)

¹⁰⁰ (Munro & Seagren, 2020)

¹⁰¹ (ASHRAE, 2017)

¹⁰² (Davison, et al., 2021)

as 95% of the particulates that pass through them.¹⁰³ The use of filters with a rating of MERV-11 and lower have been found to be ineffective in reducing indoor exposure to wildfire smoke.¹⁰⁴

4.4.3 Current capabilities of residential indoor environments

In the Pacific Northwest, many homes are not equipped with mechanical ventilation systems that include any form of air filtration. A 2020 nationwide study by the U.S. Energy Information Administration reported that only about 30% of households in Washington state use central air handling systems for summer cooling that can accommodate the use of filters, while another 53% of households use a form of air conditioning that is not compatible with the use of filters, such as portable air conditioning units and ductless heat pumps.¹⁰⁵ However, even in instances where central air conditioning systems are present, many homes use low efficiency fiberglass filters that are one inch thick and are only rated between MERV-1 and MERV-8.¹⁰⁶

Unfortunately, changing out filter media in an existing mechanical ventilation system (MVS) to accommodate higher rated filters is not a straightforward solution. Determining what filter rating a MVS can accommodate can prove challenging without consulting a professional technician. Changing existing filters for ones with a higher MERV rating can also increase system energy demands and reduce the system's operational lifespan as it must work harder to achieve the same level of airflow.¹⁰⁷ Ultimately, making a MVS compatible with the use of filters recommended for wildfire smoke may require major system upgrades that can be cost prohibitive for many.

4.4.4 Portable air cleaners

Portable air cleaners (PACs) are standalone devices generally equipped with either HEPA filters or electrostatic precipitators.¹⁰⁸ Whereas HEPA filters represent a rating of filter media efficiency (see section 3.2.2), electrostatic precipitators generate an electrostatic charge to attract and trap free floating particulates in the air. Although they have been shown to be effective at the removal of fine particulates, their use can result in the generation of ozone¹⁰⁹ at levels that can be harmful to human health. Therefore, their use and the use of ionizers is not recommended in homes or other occupied indoor environments. For the purposes of selecting a PAC, it is recommended to only use PACs that have received California Air Resource Board (CARB) certification and are designated as only having mechanical filtration,

¹⁰³ (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency , 2024)

¹⁰⁴ (Dsouza & Zhong, 2023)

¹⁰⁵ (U.S. Energy Information Adminisration, 2023)

¹⁰⁶ (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency , 2024)

¹⁰⁷ (Shirman, Shirman, & Liu, 2023)

¹⁰⁸ (Barn, Roberecki, Jenkins, Hasselback, & Rideout, 2014)

¹⁰⁹ (Poppendieck, Rim, & Persily, 2014)

and avoiding units that are designated as having electronic filtration due to the poteintal release of harmful byproducts.

Use of PACs during wildfire smoke episodes have been estimated to reduce indoor $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations by a margin of 63% to 88%¹¹⁰ and have been observed to reduce indoor $PM_{2.5}$ levels against outside concentrations by 65% (±35%).¹¹¹ While the most effective strategy to improve indoor air quality during smoke episodes would be to increase the filtration of MVSs to a MERV-13 or higher filter, in addition to the use or PACs. However, because increasing the filtration of an existing MVS in some instances be cost prohibitive, the use of PACs offer still offer several improvements.



Figure 31. Young woman sites with dog next to HEPA portable air cleaner.

PACs are typically more affordable than updating filtration in MVSs, they are often much easier to operate by building occupants and can be used to improve indoor air quality in nearly any type of home, apartment, or indoor environment.^{112,113,114,115} This makes them more accessible to tenants of renteroccupied housing. They also use less energy per unit of particulate removal than MVSs with upgraded filtration.^{116,117}

A common performance metric of PACs is their clean air delivery rate (CADR), a

metric developed by the Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers (AHAM), based upon the measured decay rate of contaminant concentration with the air cleaner operating compared with the measured decay rate with the air cleaner turned off.¹¹⁸ PACs that contain an AHAM Verified® mark have been independently tested for their ability to remove three common indoor pollutants - tobacco smoke, pollen, and dust - and have been verified to meet the California Air Resource Board (CARB) ozone emission limits. AHAM Verified® air cleaners will have a CADR rating for each of the three pollutants tested and this rating is

¹¹⁴ (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency , 2024)

¹¹⁰ (Hederson, Milford, & Miller, 2005)

¹¹¹ (Barn, et al., 2008)

¹¹² (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2024)

¹¹³ (Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers, 2022)

¹¹⁵ (ASHRAE, 2021)

¹¹⁶ (Fisk & Chan, Effectiveness and cost of reducing particle-related mortality with particle filtration, 2017)

¹¹⁷ (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2016)

¹¹⁸ (Shaughnessy & Sextro, 2007)

generally prominently listed on the product label. When selecting a PAC for the intended purpose of filtering wildfire smoke, AHAM suggests the use of a unit that has a smoke CADR (rating for filtration of 0.09 micron and 1.0-micron particles) that matches the room size in which the unit will be used.¹¹⁹ For example, an air cleaner with a smoke CADR of 150 would be appropriate for a 150 square-foot room during a wildfire smoke event, assuming the National Building Code (NBC) standard residential ceiling height of eight feet. In some instances, more than one PAC may be required to achieve the desired CADR for a single interior space, such as in homes or buildings that have lofted ceilings higher than the 8-foot residential standard or in homes or buildings with open concept floor plans that do not have partition walls separating rooms.

However, while effective, the behavior of residents regarding the operation and maintenance of PACs can make the applied performance of these units highly variable. Placement of a PAC can significantly influence how effectively the unit will filter particulates within a given space, ¹²⁰ with their effectiveness being the greatest when placed in the center of a room and away from walls, furniture, and corners that can otherwise obstruct the airflow. Also there needs to be good general air circulation within the room. Noise generated by a PAC can also pose a nuisance to users, resulting in the units being operated at lower settings. However, at lower settings the airflow is reduced, and the units are less effective at removing particles from the air.¹²¹ Over time, cumulative loading of the PACs filter(s) during normal operation will restrict airflow through filters, reducing its effectiveness. This requires periodic maintenance to check and replace loaded filters to maintain optimal operation.¹²²

When assessing the protective qualities of indoor environments during wildfire smoke episodes, both infiltration (how much pollution can make its way indoors) and filtration (how much pollution can be removed from indoor air) must be independently considered. When it comes to implementing mitigation measures that aim to improve indoor air quality during wildfire smoke episodes, there is no one solution that will fit all situations. Just as the design of buildings vary greatly, actions must be tailored to the unique needs of each building.

4.5 VARIATIONS IN WILDFIRE SMOKE COMPOSITION & TOXICITY

The geography in which a wildfire occurs and the proximity between wildfire smoke's point of origin and the location at which exposure occurs are important factors that influence its composition and toxicity.^{123,124} Wildfire smoke is not homogeneous and its composition

¹¹⁹ (Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers, 2022)

¹²⁰ (Novoselac & Siegel, 2009)

¹²¹ (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2018)

¹²² (Azimi, Zhao, & Stephens, 2016)

¹²³ (Balmes, 2018)

¹²⁴ (Cascio W. E., 2018)

changes depending upon what is being burned. As a result, the specific toxicological profile of wildfire smoke varies from fire to fire, and it may change with changes in fire intensity and behavior as it burns.¹²⁵ Furthermore, wildfire smoke can be propelled high into the atmosphere and transported over vast distances. The longer wildfire smoke remains in the atmosphere and moves away from its origin, the more the smoke can affect air quality through formation of secondary pollutants such as organic aerosols and ozone.¹²⁶



Figure 32. Smoke from wildfire along mountain ridgeline.

Wildfires occurring in areas with high temperatures and dry fuels can result in a more complete combustion of materials and contribute to higher levels of carbon dioxide (CO₂), ash, water vapor, nitrogen oxides (NO_x), and sulfur dioxides (SO₂). Fires occurring in cooler environments with wet fuels, such as peat, can result in partial oxidation of fuels, causing emissions that can be more toxic for human health, such as carbon monoxide (CO), hydrogen sulfide (H₂S), hydrogen cyanide (HCN), and ammonia (NH₃).¹²⁷ The severity or

temperature at which a wildfire burns also influences how high into the atmosphere particulates can be carried. The hotter temperature that a fire burns along with a greater size of active fire area, the higher fine particles can be injected into the atmosphere, where they can remain for months and in turn affect large areas downwind from wildfires.¹²⁸

Geology also influences the toxicity of wildfire smoke. Until recently, the health threats arising from fire-altered toxic metals found naturally in soils and plants have been under-recognized. However, a recent study in California discovered that high temperatures during wildfires can catalyze the transformation of naturally occurring chromium into its dangerous carcinogenic form, hexavalent chromium, in wind-dispersible soil and ash.¹²⁹ This was found most prevalent in areas with metal-rich geologies, such as serpentinite. The role geology plays in the potential catalyzation of naturally occurring minerals found in soils into more hazardous compounds during wildfires elevates the health risk of wildfire smoke exposure and raises important implications regarding lingering health risks that may be posed by wind-dispersible ash and dust following a wildfire.

¹²⁵ (Urbanski, Hao, & Baker, 2009)

¹²⁶ (Jaffe & Wigder, 2012)

¹²⁷ (Sokolik, Soja, DeMott, & Winker, 2019)

¹²⁸ (Fromm, et al., 2010)

¹²⁹ (Lopez, Pacheco, & Fendorf, 2023)

Other factors influencing the composition and toxicity of wildfire smoke are associated with the proximity of wildfire activity to the wildland-urban interface (WUI). Fires that occur near or within the wildland-urban interface can result in greater losses of structures, infrastructure, vehicles, and other artifacts. The combustion of these anthropogenic materials emits numerous additional toxicants that increase the toxicity of wildfire smoke, including hydrogen cyanide, hydrogen fluoride, hydrogen chloride, isocyanates, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), dioxins and furans, as well as a range of toxic organic compounds (benzene toluene, xylenes, styrene, and formaldehyde) and metals (lead, chromium, cadmium, and arsenic).¹³⁰ Additionally, due to the close proximity of the WUI to large population centers, wildfires occurring in the WUI can result in rapid impacts to air quality. This results in exposure to higher concentrations of smoke that can be imbued with additional toxicants detrimental to health.

4.6 WILDFIRE SMOKE: PAST, PRESENT, AND FUTURE

Wildfire has been an important feature of the landscape, shaping ecosystems across the Pacific Northwest since the end of the last ice age and the beginning of the Holocene epoch, dating back roughly 11,000 years. The term fire regime is used to describe the general pattern in which fire naturally occurs in a particular ecosystem over an extended period of time. While recent increases in wildfire activity have contributed to several large wildfires over the past few decades, the total area burned by wildfires remains well below the



Figure 33. Smoke blanketing western Washington.

historical fire regimes of the Pacific Northwest region, which includes the northwestern corner of the United States and the southwestern part of Canada.¹³¹ When comparing the number of acres burned by large fires in the 30-year period between 1984 and 2015 against historical fire regimes, fire activity in the Pacific Northwest region has been in the range of 13.3 – 18.9 million hectares below historical fire activity, equating to an area between 51,351 – 72,973 square miles, roughly the same size as the entire state of Washington.¹³² However, historical fire regimes consisted mainly of low and moderate severity fires that burned at lower temperatures and generally only burned the understory of a forest with minimal impact on overstory trees.

¹³⁰ (Holder, Ahmed, Vukovich, & Rao, 2023)

¹³¹ (Reilly, et al., 2021)

¹³² (Haugo, et al., 2019)

A confluence of factors including historical logging practices, fire exclusion and suppression including restrictions on cultural burning by tribal and indigenous communities who have been stewards of the land and practicing burns prior to the arrival of western settlers, urban development, and changing climatic conditions have drastically altered forest conditions across the Pacific Northwest over the past two centuries. This has resulted in an overaccumulation of vegetative fire fuels which have contributed to more than a 300% increase in the frequency of high severity fires that burn with greater intensity at higher temperatures, resulting in greater forest losses.¹³³

Climate change is expected to increase the average temperature and decrease summer precipitation in the Northwest, contributing to drought conditions and drier vegetation, increasing the risk of wildfire.¹³⁴ As a result, researchers predict that the generation of wildfire smoke will likely substantially increase under future climate change. Average exposure across the U.S. population is predicted to increase 2-to-3 fold by 2050 relative to 2011-2020 and contributing to an estimated 12,000 additional excess deaths per year in the U.S. under a high greenhouse gas emissions scenario.¹³⁵ This suggests that increases in wildfire smoke could be one of the most consequential impacts of climate change on human health in the U.S.

The altitude a plume of wildfire smoke will rise to is determined in part by the amount of heat produced by the fire.¹³⁶ The higher the level of wildfire severity, the higher its plume of smoke will likely rise into the atmosphere and the farther from its source the smoke can be transported. As wildfire severity is anticipated to increase with climate change, surface level impacts to air quality are likely to increase across regional and continental scales as the wildfire smoke subsides and interacts with localized atmospheric conditions.^{137, 138} Wildfire smoke has the potential to decrease air quality across vast areas that extend far beyond boundaries and regions where wildfire activity may actively be occurring.¹³⁹ This is a phenomenon that has already been observed with wildfires in Siberia impacting air quality in the Pacific Northwest in 2012,¹⁴⁰ western U.S. wildfires in 2020 impacting air quality across

- ¹³⁵ (Qui, et al., 2024)
- ¹³⁶ (Wilmot, Mallia, Hallar, & Lin, 2022)
- ¹³⁷ (Hung, et al., 2020)
- ¹³⁸ (Val Martin, et al., 2010)
- ¹³⁹ (Brey, Ruminski, Atwood, & Fishcer, 2018)
- ¹⁴⁰ (Cottle, Strawbridge, & McKendry, 2014)

¹³³ (Serra-Diaz, et al., 2018)

¹³⁴ (USGCRP, 2023)

the US and Canada,¹⁴¹ and Canadian wildfire activity in 2015, 2018, and 2023 impacting air quality across the East coast.^{142, 143, 144}

4.7 AIR QUALITY MONITORING AND FORECASTING

Air quality monitoring refers to the continuous measurement of a specific pollutant. An air quality monitor is the device that is used to measure one or more specific pollutants. The pollutants an air quality monitor can detect and its sensitivity to detecting different levels of pollutant concentrations is based on the type of equipment. The accuracy of an air quality monitor depends on its calibration, placement, and maintenance.



Figure 34. Image of EPA AirNow website.

The National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) established in the Clean Air Act, specifies six pollutants for which state and local air quality regulators must keep ambient air quality concentrations below their respective thresholds. These six pollutants, also known as criteria pollutants, include particulate matter, ozone, carbon monoxide, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen dioxide, and lead (in particles).

Each state, or legally designated local agency, is responsible for monitoring and reporting on air quality conditions for these criteria pollutants. In King County, Puget Sound Clean Air Agency (PSCAA) is the lead agency for air quality monitoring.

4.7.1 Wildfire Smoke Monitoring

When it comes to assessing the risk to public health from wildfire smoke, particulate matter is typically used as the most representative pollutant readily measurable. While wildfire smoke can also cause ozone impacts, particulate matter is generally considered to be the greatest pollutant of concern in wildfire smoke. Particulate matter itself is generally a term used to describe a mixture of solid particles and liquid droplets in the air and exists in a range of sizes, from those large enough to see down to sizes that can only be seen through a microscope.

¹⁴¹ (Filonchyk, Peterson, & Sun, 2022)

¹⁴² (Dreessen, Sullivan, & Delgado, 2016)

¹⁴³ (Hung, et al., 2020)

¹⁴⁴ (Debusmann Jr, Bailey, & Benn, 2023)

There are two different size categories of particulate matter defined as criteria pollutants and regularly monitored, known as PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5}. Particulate matter that is 10 micrometers and smaller (which includes PM_{2.5}) is known as PM₁₀ and is small enough to be inhaled. Particulate matter that is 2.5 micrometers and smaller is known as PM_{2.5} and is small enough to be inhaled into the deepest part of the lungs and even pass through capillaries, allowing it to enter into the bloodstream. As a result, PM_{2.5} poses the greatest risk to health as it has been shown to cause heart attack, strokes, and premature death. When assessing the health risk of wildfire smoke exposure, the PM_{2.5} is considered to pose the greatest health risk of pollutants in wildfire smoke.

Under the Clean Air Act, the U.S. EPA has established health-based standards for exposure to $PM_{2.5}$. The standards are set at concentrations considered protective to human health, even for vulnerable populations. These standards consist of an annual average standard of 9 µg/m³ and a short-term (24-hour or daily average) standard of 35 µg/m³. To aid in the interpretation of how ambient air quality relates to these standards, the U.S. EPA utilizes the Air Quality Index (AQI), which consists of a color-coded numeric scale from 0 to 500 that relates $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations to six hazard levels for sensitive populations and the general population. While the AQI is calculated for each criteria pollutant using its respective

standard, during wildfire smoke episodes, the AQI can be adjusted to intervals as short as 3 hours using what is called the NowCast algorithm. This assesses the latest hour of air quality conditions in comparison to data collected over the previous two hours and the rate of change in air quality conditions.¹⁴⁵ The NowCast algorithm was developed to help the AQI be more responsive to short term spikes that maybe reflective longer-term shifts in air quality conditions.

Air Quality Index - Particulate Matter	
301–500	Hazardous
201–300	Very Unhealthy
151–200	Unhealthy
101–150	Unhealthy for Sensitive Groups
51–100	Moderate
0-50	Good

Figure 35. U.S. EPA Air Quality Index categories.

Given the simplicity of the AQI's color-coded

numeric values as a tool for communicating health risk posed by wildfire smoke exposure, the AQI is used as the basis for public health recommendations established by state and local agencies. It helps inform community members and policy decision-makers on when to take necessary actions to reduce potential impacts to public health, such as when to reduce strenuous outdoor activities, when to limit exposure outdoors, when to cancel outdoor events and activities, and when to cancel schools.

¹⁴⁵ (Delp & Singer, 2020)

4.7.2 Air Quality Monitoring Stations

The existing network of air quality monitoring stations (AQMS) operated by state and local air quality agencies provides the most accurate and reliable information on trends and the status of air pollutants across a range of locations. The monitors are placed in locations of highest emissions from different sectors, including near major freeways, areas impacted by residential wood burning, and industrial valleys. However, there are fewer AQMS located in areas of the wildland-urban interface, which can affect the availability of air quality data in areas further removed from where these stations are located.¹⁴⁶



Figure 36. Regulatory air quality monitoring station.

AQMS used for ensuring Clean Air Act compliance must adhere to strict certification requirements regarding the equipment's sensitivity to detecting changes in pollutant concentrations, placement, and calibration for standard temperature and humidity conditions applicable to the location in which they are placed. This requires technical specialists to provide frequent upkeep and maintenance. As a result, regulatory grade monitoring stations are expensive to establish and maintain.

To help increase the availability of air quality data, low-cost sensors (such as PurpleAir sensors) are used to help provide air quality information for areas where no AQMSs already exist.

4.7.3 Low-Cost Air Quality Sensors

The low cost and ease of use of low-cost air quality sensors has led to a proliferation in their use by organizations and individuals who are interested in monitoring air quality.¹⁴⁷ Low-cost sensors can be used to estimate hyper-local concentrations in fine particulate matter, assess regional dispersion of pollutants, and assess health risks of PM_{2.5} exposure resulting from wildfire smoke.¹⁴⁸ Although, there are several caveats that apply to their accuracy, they can be an important tool for assessing community health risk during wildfire smoke episodes by providing real-time information on air quality conditions where data may otherwise not be available.

¹⁴⁶ (Holder, et al., 2020)

¹⁴⁷ (Kelleher, Quinn, Miller-Lionberg, & Volckens, 2018)

^{148 (}Delp & Singer, 2020)

Low-cost sensors typically use photometers to optically monitor, measure, and translate the scattering of light passing through a group of particles into real-time mass concentrations.^{149,150} The intensity of scattered light depends on aerosol properties (e.g., size, shape, density, refractive index, type, and composition).^{151,152} Sensors that utilize photometers must be calibrated for a defined aerosol to interpret the scattering of light caused by a single particle passing through a laser. Calibration enables the device to translate the amount of scattered light to a mass concentration or a particle count based on assumptions about the particles shape and optical properties.¹⁵³ As a result, both the algorithm used by a sensor to translate information about the size and count of particulates to determine concentrations, as well as the physical configuration of a sensor, have a significant role in determining the sensor's accuracy of data.¹⁵⁴

Variations in the design and detection method used by low-cost air quality sensors, combined with non-standardized calibration methods used by various manufacturers, contribute to a high degree of variance in the accuracy of these sensors. PM_{2.5} derived from wildfire smoke differs significantly in its optical properties from typical urban and industrial sources of PM_{2.5}. This typically requires the application of a smokespecific adjustment or calibration factor to data from the device to accurately assess the level of smoke in a manner comparable to that of an AQMS.



Figure 37. Low-cost air quality sensor.

When used with the appropriate adjustment factors, low-cost sensors can be used to better understand ambient air quality conditions due to wildfire smoke. This can help inform people of their health risk and when to take actions to reduce exposure to PM_{2.5} by filling in large spatial gaps in the network of AQMSs.^{155,156} However, without the use of appropriate adjustment factors, these devices can be a source of significant confusion as large discrepancies can exist between data obtained from regulatory AQMS and low-cost sensors. Differences in the default time averaging periods for reporting on data obtained

- ¹⁵¹ (Sorensen, Gebhart, O'Hern, & Rader, 2011)
- ¹⁵² (Wang, et al., 2009)

¹⁴⁹ (Thomas & Gebhart, 1994)

¹⁵⁰ (Wallace, et al., 2011)

¹⁵³ (Delp & Singer, 2020)

¹⁵⁴ (Holder, et al., 2020)

¹⁵⁵ (Delp & Singer, 2020)

¹⁵⁶ (Holder, et al., 2020)

from low-cost sensors can also contribute to confusion when comparing low-cost sensor data to AQMS data. Additional complications arise as the necessary adjustment factor can change depending on location and may differ from one wildfire smoke episode to another. As a result, it may be necessary to routinely identify and apply short-term adjustment factors by comparing the previous several hours of data from a low-cost sensor to that of a nearby air quality station, if one is available.¹⁵⁷

4.7.4 Wildfire Smoke Forecasting

The complex interrelationships between fire behavior, the type of fire fuel (grass, shrub, forest, structure), weather (wind direction, temperature, humidity), topography of the terrain where a fire is occurring, and the source of a fire (human activity or lightning) make predicting and forecasting wildfire smoke impacts on air quality complicated.¹⁵⁸ There are substantial uncertainties just in predicting basic fire behavior due to uncertainty in the fuel (biomass) amount and type, and its moisture. These greatly affect the quality (completeness) of combustion, and the amount of heat generated, which influences the amount of particulate matter that is generated. The amount of heat generated then affects how high the smoke plume rises and can affect the winds and air flow around the fire and move or spread the fire in ways that would otherwise not occur without fire.

Mixing height describes how high surface air will vertically mix over the course of minutes to about an hour. The mixing height normally cycles daily, increasing in height in the morning and afternoon as the sun warms the surface, and dropping much lower to the surface as the sun sets. The mixing height for a specific day and location will vary depending on the surface and atmospheric conditions, but often will grow to 3,000 feet or more in the afternoon, and then drop to around 100 feet at night.

When a wildfire smoke plume rises into the atmosphere and is transported downwind from a wildfire, it's potential impact on surface air quality is determined by the altitude a smoke plume reaches and the mixing height If the mixing height reaches the height of the smoke plume, smoke will begin mixing down to ground level, causing significant impacts to surface level air quality conditions. On the other hand, if the altitude at which a smoke plume is traveling, there will be no direct impact on surface air quality. Also, for some fires, a significant amount of smoke may remain below the mixing height and simply move to, and immediately impact, neighboring areas with the prevailing surface winds.

Forecasting air quality impacts during wildfire smoke episodes therefore requires understanding of multiple variables, including the amount of smoke that is generated by a fire, the altitude smoke plumes reach, the distance it travels, and mixing height of the areas over which it travels. Complicating matters further, mixing heights of the air column shift

¹⁵⁷ (Delp & Singer, 2020)

¹⁵⁸ (Balmes, 2018)

throughout the day, adding to the challenges of predicting the degree to which air quality may be impacted by a wildfire smoke. As a result, the ability to forecast wildfire smoke impacts on air quality with any degree of certainty is generally limited to a 48-hour period, with a few exceptions.¹⁵⁹

Systems that can provide forecasts beyond 48 hours, such as the U.S. Forest Service BlueSky modeling framework, rely on linking a range of independent models using complex algorithms that account for fire behavior, fuel loading, fire consumption, fire emissions, and smoke dispersion. These systems are the best automated wildfire smoke forecasts that are available but do routinely have significant errors due to errors and uncertainties described previously. Also, some systems were developed with a specific, narrow purpose, such as informing decision-making related to prescribed fire burning.¹⁶⁰

Over the past couple of years, the Washington State Department of Ecology has begun issuing five-day wildfire smoke forecast maps on a county-wide basis during the smoke season (June through October) to help inform local decision-making and help reduce exposure to air pollution. However, the accuracy of these forecasts remains limited, especially at spatial resolutions smaller than the county scale. They also do not account for variations in air quality conditions at intervals shorter than daily 24-hour averages.

¹⁵⁹ (Swartzendruber, 2023)¹⁶⁰ (U.S. Forest Service, n.d.)

BEFERENCES

- Abatzoglou, J., & Williams, A. (2016). Impact of anthorpogenic climate change on wildfire across western US forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113*, 11770-11775.
- Aguilera, R., Corringham, T., Gershunov, A., & Benmarhnia, T. (2021). Wildfire smoke impacts respiratory health more than fine partucles from other sources: observational evidence from Southern California. *Nature Communications*(12), 1-8.
- Akids, C., & Nadeau, K. (2022, November). Human and planetary health on fire. *Nature Reviews Immunology, 22*(11), 651-652. doi:10.1038/s41577-022-00776-3
- Amjad, S., Chojecki, D., Osornio-Vargas, A., & Ospina, M. (2021, November). Wildfire exposure during pregnancy and the risk of adverse birth outcomes: a systematic review. *Environmental International*, 156, 106644. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106644
- ASHRAE. (2017). Standard 52.2 Method of Testing General Ventilation Air-Cleaning Devices for Removal Efficiency by Particle Size. Atlanta, GA: ASHRAE.
- ASHRAE. (2021). Planning Framework for Protectng Commercial Building Occupants from Smoke During Wildfire Smoke Events. Retrieved February 12, 2024, from ASHRAE.org: https://www.ashrae.org/file%20library/technical%20resources/covid-19/guidancefor-commercial-building-occupants-from-smoke-during-wildfire-events.pdf
- Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers. (2022). Using an Air Cleaner to Manage Wildfire Smoke. Retrieved February 12, 2024, from AHAM Verifide: https://ahamverifide.org/using-an-air-cleaner-to-manage-wildfire-smoke/
- Azimi, P., Zhao, D., & Stephens, B. (2016). Modeling the impact of residential HVAC filtration on indoor particles of outdoor origin (RP-1691). *Science and Technology for the Built Environment, 22*(4), 431-462.
- Balmes, J. (2018). Where there's wildfire, there's smoke. *New England Journal of Medicine, 378*(10), 881-883.
- Banzhaf, S., Ma, L., & Timmins, C. (2019). Environmental justice: the economics of race, place and pollution. *Economic Perspectives, 33*(1), 185-208. Retrieved from https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/jep.33.1.185
- Barn, P., Larson, T., Noullett, M., Kennedy, S., Copes, R., & Brauer, M. (2008, September). Infiltration of forest fire and residential wood smoke: an evaluation of air cleaner

effectiveness. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology, 18*(5), 503-511. doi:10.1038/sj.jes.7500640

- Barn, P., Roberecki, S., Jenkins, P., Hasselback, P., & Rideout, K. (2014). Evidence review: home and community clean air shelters to protect public health during wildfire smoke events.
 Vancouver: British Columbia Center for Disease Control. Retrieved from https://www.academia.edu/download/40281734/Home_and_community_clean_air_s helters_to20151122-19244-1ccja9w.pdf
- Bateson, T., & Schwartz, J. (2004). Who is sensitive to the effects of particulate air pollution on mortality? A case-crossover analysis of effect modifiers. *Epidemiology, 15*, 143-149.
- Becker, M. (1974). The health belief model and sick role behavior. *Health education monographs, 2*(4), 409-419. Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/109019817400200407
- Bennett, W., Zeman, K., & Jarabek, A. (2007). Nasal contribution to breathing and fine particle deposition in children versus adults. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A*(71), 227-237.
- Berman, J., Breysse, P. W., & Curriero, F. (2012). Health-related benefits of attaining the daily and annual pm2.5 air quality standards and stricter alternative standards. *Health Services Research and Administrative Databases*, A2317.
- Brey, S., Ruminski, M., Atwood, S., & Fishcer, E. (2018). Connectign smoke plmes to sources using Hazard Mapping System (HMS) smoke and fire location data over North America. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, *18*(3), 1745-1761. Retrieved from https://acp.copernicus.org/articles/18/1745/2018/
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (n.d.). U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Outlook Handbook, Heating, Air Conditioning, and Refrigeration Mechanics and Installers,. Retrieved April 17, 2024, from US Bureau of Labor Statistics: https://www.bls.gov/ooh/installationmaintenance-and-repair/heating-air-conditioning-and-refrigeration-mechanics-andinstallers.htm
- Cascio, W. (2018, May 15). Wildland fire smoke and human health. *Science of the Total Environment*(624), 586-595.
- Cascio, W. (2018). Wildland fire smoke and human health. *Science of The Total Environment, 624*(0048-9697), 586-595. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.12.086.

- Cascio, W. E. (2018). Wildland fire smoke and human health. *Science of the Total Environment, 624*(0048-9697), 586-595. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S004896971733512X
- Chen, C., & Zhao, B. (2011). Review of relationship between indoor and outdoor particles:
 I/O ration, infiltration factor and penetration factor. *Atmospheric Environment, 45*(2), 275-288. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2010.09.048
- Colmer, J., Hardman, I., Shimshack, J., & Voorheis, J. (2020). Disparities in PM2.5 air pollution in the United States. *Science, 369*(6503), 575-578. Retrieved from https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/science.aaz9353
- Cottle, P., Strawbridge, K., & McKendry, I. (2014). Long-range transport of Siberian wildfire smoke to British Columbia: Lidar observations and air quality impacts. *Atmospheric environment, 90*, 71-77. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1352231014001666
- Das, S., Colarco, P. O., & Torres, O. (2021). The long-term transport and radiative impacts of the 2017 British Columbia pyrocumlonimbus smoke aerosols in the stratosphere. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 21*(15), 1209-12090. Retrieved from https://acp.copernicus.org/articles/21/12069/2021/
- Davison, G., Barkjohn, K., Hagler, G., Holder, A., Coefield, S., Noonan, C., & Hassett-Sipple, B.
 (2021, February 14). Creating Clean Air Spaces During Wildland Fire Smoke Episodes:
 Web Summit Summary. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 9. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2021.508971
- Debusmann Jr, B., Bailey, C., & Benn, J. (2023). *Canada wildfires: US East Coast sees worst air quality in years.* Washington DC: BBC News. Retrieved March 7, 2024, from https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-65828469
- Delp, W., & Singer, B. (2020). Wildfire smoke ajustment factors for low-cost and professional PM2.5 monitors with optical sensors. *Sensors, 20*(13), 3683. Retrieved from https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/20/13/3683
- DeMeo, T., Haugo, R., Ringo, C., Kertis, J., Acker, S., & Stern, M. (2018). Expanding our understanding of forest structural resortation needs in the Pacific Northwest. *Northwest Science*, 92, 18-35. Retrieved from https://bioone.org/journals/northwestscience/volume-92/issue-1/046.092.0104/Expanding-Our-Understanding-of-Forest-Structural-Restoration-Needs-in-the/10.3955/046.092.0104.full
- Doubleday, A., Schulte, J., Sheppard, L., Kadlec, M., Dhammapala, R., Fox, J., & Busch Isaksen, T. (2020, January 13). Mortality associated with wildfire smoke exposure in Washington state, 2006 - 2017: a case-crossover study. *Envrionmental Health*, *19*(1)4. doi: 10.1186/s12940-020-0559-2. PMID: 31931820; PMCID: PMC6958692.

- Doubleday, A., Sheppard, L., Austin, E., & Busch Isaksen, T. (2023, May 25). Wildfire smoke exposure and emergency department visits in Washington State. *Environmental Research: Health, 1*(2). doi:10.1088/2752-5309/acd3a1
- Dreessen, J., Sullivan, J., & Delgado, R. (2016). Observations and impacts of transported Canadian wildfire smoke on ozone and aerosol air quality in the Maryland region on June 9-12, 2015. *Journal of Air & Waste Management Association, 66*(9), 842-862. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10962247.2016.1161674
- Dsouza, A., & Zhong, L. (2023). Optimizing Mechanical Ventilation Systems for Wildfire Smoke Resilience in British Columbia. In L. e. Wang (Ed.), *Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Building Energy and Environment*. Singapore: Springer. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-9822-5_277
- Eisenman, D., & Galway, L. (2022). The mental health and well-being effects of wildfire smoke: a scoping review. *BMC Public Health, 22*, 2274. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-14662-z
- Fan, N., Alman, B., Broome, R., Morgan, G., Johnston, F. P., & Rappold, A. (2018, Jan 1). The health impacts and economic value of wildland fire episodes in the U.S.: 2008-2012. *Science of the Total Environment*, 802-809.
- Fernandez, A., Basilio, E., Benmarhina, T., Roger, J., Gaw, S., Robinson, J., & Padula, A. (2023, June 1). Retrospective analysis of wildfire smoke exposure and birth weight outcomes in San Francisco Bay Area of California. *Evironmental Research Health*, 1(2), 025009. doi:10.1088/2752-5309/acd5f5
- Ferrer, R., & Klein, W. (2015, October). Risk perceptions and health behavior. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 5, 85-89. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.03.012
- Filonchyk, M., Peterson, M., & Sun, D. (2022). Deterioration of air quality associated with the 2020 US wildfires. *Science of the Total Environment, 826*, 154103. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969722011950
- Fisk, W., & Chan, W. (2016). Health benefits and costs of filtration interventions that reduce indoor exposure to PM2.5 during wildfires. *Indoor Air*, 191-204. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12285
- Fisk, W., & Chan, W. (2017, September). Effectiveness and cost of reducing particle-related mortality with particle filtration. *Indoor Air: Internation Jorunal of Indoor Environment and Health, 27*(5), 909-920. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12371

- Fromm, M., Lindsey, D., Servranckx, R., Yue, G., Trickl, T., Sica, R., . . . Godin-Beekmann, S. (2010). The untold sotry of pyrocumulonmibus. *Bulletin of the American Meterological Society*, *91*(9), 1193-1209. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1175/2010BAMS3004.1
- Ghazi, T., Naidoo, P., & Chuturgoon, A. (2021). Prenatal air pollution exposure and placental DNA methylation changes: Implications on fetal development and future disease susceptibility. *Cells, 10*(11), 3025. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3390/cells10113025
- Guiterman, C., Margolis, E., Allen, C., Falk, D., & Swetnam, T. (2018). Long-term persistence and fire resilience of oak shrubfields in dry conifer forests of northern New Mexico. *Ecosystems, 21*, 943-959. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10021-017-0192-2
- Hajat, A., Hsia, C., & O'Neil, M. (2015). Socioeconomic disparities and air pollution exposure: a global review. *Current Environmental Health Reports, 2*, 440-450. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40572-015-0069-5
- Haugo, R., Kellog, B., Cansler, C., Kolden, C., Kemp, K., Roberston, J., . . . Restanio, C. (2019). Thhe missing fire: quantifying human exclusion of wildfire in Pacific Northwest forests, USA. *Ecosphere*, *10*(4), e02702. Retrieved from https://esajournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ecs2.2702
- Hederson, D., Milford, J., & Miller, S. (2005). Prescribed burns and wildfire in Colorado: impacts of mitigation measures on indoor air particulate matter. *Journal of the Air* and Waste Management Association (JA&WMA), 55(10), 1516-1526. doi:10.1080/10473289.2005.10464746
- Henderson, S., Nguyen, P., Yao, J., & Lee, M. (2024, April). The public health paradox of wildfire smoke. *BC Medical Journal, 66*(3), 93-95. Retrieved from https://bcmj.org/bc-centre-disease-control/public-health-paradox-wildfire-smoke
- Henry, S., Ospina, M., Dennett, K., & Hicks, A. (2021, August 20). Assessing the Risk of Respiratory-Related Healthcare Visits Associated with Wildfrie Smoke Exposure in Children 0-18 Years Old: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18*(16), 8799. doi:10.3390/ijerph18168799
- Hessburg, P., Churchill, D., Larson, A., Haugo, R., C., M., Spies, T., & North, M. (2015).
 Restoring fire-prone inlsnad Pacific landscapes: seven core principles. *Landscape Ecology*, *30*, 1805-1835. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10980-015-0218-0

- Holden, Z., Swanson, A., Luce, C., Jolly, W., Maneta, M., Oyler, J., . . . Affleck, D. (2018).
 Decreasing fire season precipitation increased recent western US forest wildfire activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 115*(36), e8349-e8357.
- Holder, A., Ahmed, A., Vukovich, J., & Rao, V. (2023). Hazardous air pollutant emissions estimates from wildfires in the wildland urban interface. *PNAS Nexus, 2*(6), pgad186. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/pnasnexus/pgad186
- Holder, A., Mebust, A., Maghran, L., McGown, M., Stewart, K., Vallano, D., . . . Baker, K. (2020). Field evaluation of low-cost particulate matter sensors for measuring wildfire smoke. *Sensors, 20*(17), 4796. Retrieved from https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8220/20/17/4796
- Holm, S., Miller, M., & Balmes, J. (2021). Health effects of wildfire smoke in children and public health tools: a narrative review. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology*(31), 1-20. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-020-00267-4
- Humphrey, J., Barton, K., Man, S., Carlton, E., Newman, L., Dowling Root, E., . . . Miller, S. (2020). Air infiltration in low-income, urban homes and its relationship to lung function. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology, 30*(2), 262-270. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-019-0184-8
- Hung, W., Lu, C., Shrestha, B., Lin, H., Lin, C., Groga, D., . . . Joseph, E. (2020). The impacts of transported wildfire smoke aersols on surface air quality in New York State: A case study in summer 2010. *Atmospheric Environment, 224*, 117415. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1352231020301540
- Hurteau, M., Westerling, A., Wiedinmyer, C., & Bryant, B. (2014). Projected effects of climate and development on California wildfire emissions thround 2100. *Environmental Science and Technology, 48*, 2298-2304.
- Jaffe, D., & Wigder, N. (2012). Ozone prodction from wildfires: A critical review. *Atmospheric Environment, 51*, 1-10. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1352231011012507
- Jung, J., Wilkins, J., Schollaert, C., Masuda, Y., Flunker, J., Connolly, R., . . . Spector, J. (2024, January 1). Advancing the community health vulnerability index for wildland fire smoke exposure. *Science of the Total Environment, 906*, 167834. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.167834
- Kelleher, S., Quinn, C., Miller-Lionberg, D., & Volckens, J. (2018). A low-xost particulat matter (PM 2.5) monitor for wildland fire smoke. *Atmospheric Measurement Techniques*, *11*(2), 1087-1097. Retrieved from https://amt.copernicus.org/articles/11/1087/2018/

- Kemp, K., Higuera, P., & Morgan, P. (2016). Fire legacies impact conifer regeneration across environental gradients in the US northern Rockies. *Landscape Ecology*, *31*, 619-636. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10980-015-0268-3
- Kim, Y., Knowles, S., Manley, J., & Radoias, V. (2017, August). Long-run health consequneces of air pollution: Evidence from Indonesia's forest fires of 1997. *Economics and Human Biology*(26), 186-198. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2017.03.006
- Kim, Y., Warren, S., Krantz, Q., King, C., Jaskot, R., Preston, W., . . . Gilmour, M. (2018, January 24). Mutagenicity and Lung Toxicity of Smoldering vs. Flaming Emissions from Various Biomass Fuels: Implications for Helath Effects from Wildland Fires. *Environmental Health Perspectives, 126*(1), 017011. doi:10.1289/EHP2200. PMID: 29373863
- Krebs, B., & Neidell, M. (2024, February). Wildfires exacerbate inequalities in indoor pollution exposure. *Environmental Research Letters, 19*(2), 4043. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/ad22b8
- Lappe, B., Vargo, J., & Conlon, K. (2023). Social vulnerability in US communities affected by wildfire smoke. *Authorea Preprints*. Retrieved from https://www.authorea.com/doi/pdf/10.22541/essoar.167639080.03640584
- Laumbach, R. (2019). Cleaning the air on personal interventions to reduce exposures to wildfire smoke. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society, 16*(7), 815-818. Retrieved from https://www.atsjournals.org/doi/full/10.1513/AnnalsATS.201812-894PS
- Liu, D., He, C., Schwarz, J., & Wang, X. (2020). Lifecycle of light-absorbing carbonaceous aerosols in the atmosphere. *NPJ Climate and Atmospheric Science, 3*(1), 40. Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/s41612-020-00145-8
- Liu, J., Clark, L., Bechle, M., Hajat, A., Kim, S., Robinson, A., . . . Marshall, J. (2021). Disparities in air pollution exposure in the United States by race/ethnicity and income, 1990-2010. *Environmental health perspectives, 129*(12), 127005. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP858
- Liu, Y., Austin, E., Xiang, J., Gould, T., Larson, T., & Seto, E. (2021, April 16). Health Impact Assessment of PM2.5 attributatble mortality from the September 2020 Washington State Wildfire Smoke Episode. *GeoHealth*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1029/2020GH000359
- Lopez, A., Pacheco, J., & Fendorf, S. (2023). Metal toxin threat in wildland fires determined by geoplogy and fire severity. *Nature Communications*(14), 8007. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-43101-9

- Lou, J., Ban, J., Zhang, T., Peng, W., Wu, Y., Huang, L., . . . Bi, J. (2021). An intervention study of the rural elderly for improving exposure, risk perception and behavioral responses under high temperature. *Environmental Research Letters, 16*(5), 055029. doi:10.1088/1748-9326/abfa4f
- Lou, N., Weng, W., Xu, X. H., & Sun, K. (2019). Assessment of occupant-behavior-based indoor air quality and its impacts on humna exposure risk: A case study based on the wildfires in Northern California. *Science of the Total Environment, 686*, 1251-1261. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.05.467
- Ma, Y., Zang, E., Liu, Y., Lu, Y., Krumholz, H., Bell, M., & Chen, K. (2023). Wildfire smoke PM2.5 and mortality in the contiguous United States. *Preprint*. doi:10.1101/2023.01.31.23285059
- Macey, S. (2008). *Public Perception of Wildfire Smoke Hazard.* Texas State University-San Marcos , Department of Geography . San Marcos, TX: James and Marilyn Lovell Center for Environmental Geography and Hazards Research. Retrieved from https://hazards.colorado.edu/uploads/quick_report/macey_2008.pdf
- Mashin, M., Cabaj, J., & Saini, V. (2022, February). Respiratory and cardiovasular conditionrelated physician visits associated with wildfire smoke exposure in Calgary, Canada, in 2015: a population-based study. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *51*(1), 166-178. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyab206
- Melton, C., De Fries, C., Smith, R., & Mason, L. (2023). Wildfires and Older Adults: A Scoping Review of Impacts, Risks, and Interventions. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 20*(13), 6252. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20136252
- Millar, C., & Stephenson, N. (2015). Temperate forest health in an era of emerging megadisturbance. *Science, 349*(6250), 823-826. Retrieved from https://www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/science.aaa9933
- Mirabelli, M., Künzli, N., Avol, E., Gililand, F., Gauderman, W., McConnell, R., & Peters, J. (2009, May). Respiratory symptoms following wildfire smoke exposure: airway size as a susceptibility factor. *Epidemiology*, *20*(3), 451-459. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e31819d128d
- Mirabelli, M., Vaidyanathan, A., Pennington, A., Ye, D., & Trenga, C. (2022, November). Wildfire smoke and symptoms affecting mental health among adults in the U.S. state of Oregon. *Preventive Medicine, 164*, 107333. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2022.107333

- Morello-Frosch, R. (2002). Discrimination and the political economy of environmental inequality. *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy, 20*(4), 447-496. Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1068/c03r
- Morello-Frosch, R., & Lopez, R. (2006). The riskscape and the color line: examining the role of segregation in environmental health disparities. *Environmental research, 102*(2), 181-196. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2006.05.007
- Munro, C., & Seagren, J. (2020, April). The Smoke Infiltraiton Situation in the Aftermath of the Devastation Bushfire. *Ecolibrium, 19*(3), 22-24. Retrieved from https://www.airahfiles.org.au/Ecolibrium/2020/04-20-Eco-001.pdf
- Narayanan, M., Owers-Bradley, J., Beardsmore, C., Mada, M., Ball, I., Garipov, R., . . . Williams, S. (2012). Alveolarization continues during childhood and adolescence: new evidence from helium-3 magnetic resonance. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critcal Care Medicine, 185*(2), 186-191. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201107-13480C
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2016). *Health risks of indoor exposures to particulate mater: workshop summary.* Washington, D.C.: NASEM. doi:10.17226/23531.
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2024). *Health Risks of Indoor Exposure to Fine Particulate Matter and Practical Mitigation Solutions.* Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.17226/27341
- Noah, T., Worden, C., Rebuli, M., & Jaspers, I. (2023, July). The Effects of Wildfire Smoke on Asthma and Allergy. *Current Allergy and Athma Reports, 23*(7), 375-387.
- Novoselac, A., & Siegel, J. A. (2009, December). Impact of placement of protable air cleaning devices in multizone residential environments. *Building and Environment, 44*(12), 2348-2356. doi:10.1016/j.buildenv.2009.03.023
- Peterson, A., Habre, R., Niu, Z., Amin, M., Yang, T., Eckel, S., . . . Walker, D. (2022). Identifying pre-conception and pre-natal periods in which ambient air pollution exposure affects fetal growht in the predominately Hispanic MADRES cohort. *Environmental Health, 21*(1), 115. doi:10.1186/s12940-022-00925-0
- Peterson, D., Campbell, J., Hyer, E. F., Kablick III, G., Cossuth, J., & DeLand, M. (2018).
 Wildfire-driven thrunderstorms cause a volcano-like stratospheric injection of smoke. *NPJ Climate and Atmospheric Sicence*, *1*(1), 30. Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/s41612-018-0039-3

- Poppendieck, D., Rim, D., & Persily, A. (2014). Ultrafine Particle Removal and Ozone Generation by In-Duct Electostatic Precipitators. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(3), 2067-2074. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1021/es404884p
- Qui, M., Li, J., Gould, C., Jing, R., Kelp, M., Childs, M., . . . Burke, M. (2024). Mortality Burden From Wildfire Smoke Under Climate Change. Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research. Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w32307
- Radeloff, V., Helmers, D., Kramer, H., Mockrin, M., Alexandre, P., Bar-Massada, A., . . . Stewart, S. (2018). Rapid growth of the US wildland-urban interface raises wildfire risk. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *115*(13), 3314-3319.
- Rajagopalan, P., & Goodman, N. (2021). Improving the Indoor Air Quality of Residential Buildings during Bushfire Smoke Events. *Climate, 9*(2), 32. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3390/cli9020032
- Rappold, A., Hano, M., Prince, S., Wei, L., Huang, S., Baghdikian, C., . . . Diaz-Sanchez, D. (2019). Smoke sense initiative leverages citizen science to address the growing wildfire-related public health problem. *GeoHealth*, *3*(12), 443-457. Retrieved from https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/2019GH000199
- Rappold, A., Reyes, J., Pouliot, G., Cascio, W., & Diaz-Sanchez, D. (2017, May 11). Community vulnerability to health impacts of wildland fire smoke exposure. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 6674 - 6682. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b06200
- Reid, C., Brauer, M., Johnston, F., Jerrett, M., Balmes, J., & Elliott, C. (2016). Critical review of health impacts of wildfire smoke exposure. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *124*(9), 1334-1343. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1409277
- Reid, C., Considine, E., Watson, G., Telesca, D., Pfister, G., & Jerrett, M. (2023, April 11). Effect modification of the association between fine particulate air pollution during a wildfire event and respiratory health by area-level measures of socio-economic status, race/ethnicity, and smoking prevalence. *Environmental Research: Health, 1*(2). doi:10.1088/2752-5309/acc4e1
- Reilly, M., Halofsky, J., Krawchuk, M., Donato, D., Hessburg, P., Johnston, J., . . . Spies, T. (2021). Fire ecology and management in Pacific Northwest forests. (C. Greenberg, & B. Collins, Eds.) *39*, 393-435. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-73267-7_10
- Reisen, F., Powell, J., Dennekamp, M., Johnston, F., & Wheeler, A. (2019). Is remaining indoors an effective way of reducing exposure to fine particulate matter during biomass burning events? *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 69*(5), 611-622. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/10962247.2019.1567623
- Richards, J., & Kuhn, R. (2023). Unsheltered homelessness and health: a literature review. *AJPM Focus, 2*(1), 100043. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2773065422000414
- Rodney, R., Swaminathan, A., Calear, A., Christensen, B., Lal, A., Lane, J., . . . Walker, I. (2021). Physical and Mental Health Effects of Bushfire and Smoke in the Australian Capital Territory 2019-20. *Frontiers in Public Health, 9*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.682402
- Rogers, R. (1975). A protection motivation theory of fear appeals and attidtude change1. *The Journal of Psychology, 91*(1), 93-114. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00223980.1975.9915803
- Saenen, N., Martens, D., Neven, K., Alfano, R., Bove, H., Janssen, B. R., . . . Nawrot, T. (2019). Air pollution-induced placental alterationsL an interplay of oxidative stress, epigenetics, and the aging phenotype? *Clinical Epigenetics*, *11*(1), 124.
- Santana, F., Gonzalez, D., & Wong-Parodi, G. (2021). Psychological factors and social processes influencing wildfire smoke protective behavior: insihgts from a case study in Northern California. *Climate Risk Management, 34*, 100351. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212096321000802
- Sbihi, H. (2014). *Evidence Review: Using masks to protect public health during wildfire smoke events.* Vancouver, BC: BC Centre for Disease Control. Retrieved from https://www.academia.edu/download/66450144/Evidence_Review_Using_masks_to_ protect_p20210421-12618-5jb7mf.pdf
- Schwarz, L., Nguyen, A., Castillo, E., Brennan, J., Chan, T., Aguilera, R., . . . Benmarhnia, T. (2022, September). The effect of ambient air pollution and wildfire smoke on emergency department visits for persons experiencing homelessness in San Diego, California. *ISEE 2022: 34th Annual Conference of the International Society of Environmental Epidemiology. 2022.* Athens, GR: EHP Publishing. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1289/isee.2022.O-OP-116
- Serra-Diaz, J., Maxwell, C., Lucash, M., Scheller, R., Laflower, D., Miller, A., . . . Thompson, J. (2018). Disequilibrium of fire-prone forests sets the stage for a rapid decline in conifer dominance during the 21st century. *Scientific Reports, 8*, 6749. Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-018-24642-2
- Shaughnessy, R., & Sextro, R. (2007, October 24). What Is an Effective Portable Air Cleaning Device? A Review. *Journal of Occupational and Environemtnal Hygiene*, *3*(4), 169-181.
 Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/15459620600580129

- Shirman, T., Shirman, E., & Liu, S. (2023). Evaluation of Filtration Efficiency of Various Filter Media in Addressing Wildfire Smoke in Indoor Environments: Improtance of Particle Size and Composition. *Atmosphere*, *14*(12), 1729. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos14121729
- Siregar, S., Idiawati, N., Pan, W., & Yu, K. (2022, November 9). Association between satellite based estimates of long-term PM2.5 exposure and cardiovascular disease: evidence from the Indonesian family life survey. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 29, 21156-21165. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-17318-4
- Slovic, P. (1987). Perception of risk. *Science, 236*(4799), 280-285. doi:10.1126/science.3563507
- Sokolik, I., Soja, A., DeMott, P., & Winker, D. (2019). Progress and challenges in quanitfying wildfire smoke emissions, their properties, transport, and atmospheric impacts. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 124*(23), 13005-13025. Retrieved from https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/2018JD029878
- Sorensen, C., Gebhart, J., O'Hern, T., & Rader, D. (2011). Optical measurement techniques: fundamentals and applicaitons. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Stone, S., Anderko, L., Berger, M., Butler, C., W.E., C., Clune, A., . . . Haskell, W. (2019). Wildfire Smoke: A Guide for Public Health Officials. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Retrieved from https://www.airnow.gov/publications/wildfire-smoke-guide/wildfiresmoke-a-guide-for-public-health-officials/
- Stowell, J., Geng, G., Saikawa, E., Chang, H., Fu, J., Yang, C., . . . Strickland, M. (2019, December). Associations of wildifre smoke PM2.5 exposure with cardiorespiratory events in Colorado 2011-2014. *Environmental International, 133*, Article 105151. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105151
- Swartzendruber, P. ,. (2023, August 23). Air Resource Speicalist. (A. Houston, Interviewer) Seattle, Washington.
- Thomas, A., & Gebhart, J. (1994). Correlations between gravimetry and light scattering photometry for atmospheric aerosols. *Atmospheirc Environment, 28*(5), 935-938. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/1352231094902518
- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1973). Availabiluty: A heuristic for judging frequency and probability. *Cognative psychology, 5*(2), 207-232. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0010028573900339
- Twohy, C., Toohey, D., Levin, E., DeMott, P., Rainwater, B., Garofalo, L., . . . Murphy, S. (2021). Biomass burning smoke and its influence on clouds over the western US.

Geophysical Research Letters, 48(15), e2021GL094224. Retrieved from https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/2021GL094224

- U.S. Energy Information Adminisration. (2023). *Residential Energy Consumption Survey: Highlights for air conditioning in U.S. homes by state, 2020.* Washington, DC: U.S. Energy Information Administration, Office of Energy Demand and Integrated Statistics. Retrieved from https://www.eia.gov/consumption/residential/data/2020/state/pdf/State%20Space% 20Heating.pdf
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency . (2024, January 12). *Preparing for Fire Season*. Retrieved from EPA.gov : https://www.epa.gov/wildfire-smoke-course/preparing-fire-season
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2018). *Residential Air Cleaners: A Technical Summary 3rd Edition.* EPA Indoor Environments Division. Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2018-07/documents/residential_air_cleaners_-_a_technical_summary_3rd_edition.pdf
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2023, July 11). *Particulate Matter (PM) Basics*. Retrieved from U.S. EPA web site: https://www.epa.gov/pm-pollution/particulatematter-pm-basics
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2024). Which Populations Experience Greater Risks of Adverse Health Effects Resulting from Wildfire Smoke Exposure? Retrieved from United States Environmental Protection Agency: https://www.epa.gov/wildfire-smokecourse/which-populations-experience-greater-risks-adverse-health-effectsresulting#:~:text=Older%20adults%20are%20at%20increased%20risk%20of%20heal th,physiologic%20processes%2C%20including%20defense%20mechanisms%2C%20 dec
- U.S. EPA. (2023, July 14). *Report on the Environment: Indoor Air Quality* . Retrieved from EPA.gov: https://www.epa.gov/report-environment/indoor-air-quality
- U.S. Forest Service. (n.d.). *Blue Sky Modeling Framework*. Retrieved March 8, 2024, from Airfire.org: https://www.airfire.org/data/bluesky
- Urbanski, S., Hao, W., & Baker, S. (2009). Chemical Composition of Wildland Fire Smoke. (M. Arbaugh, A. Riebau, & C. Andersen, Eds.) *Developments in Environmental Science, 8*(1474-8177), 79-107.
- USGCRP. (2023). *Fifth National Climate Assessment*. USGCRP. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Global Change Research Program. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.7930/NCA5.2023

- Val Martin, M., Logan, J., Kahn, R., Leung, F., Nelson, D., & Diner, D. (2010). Smoke injection heights form fires in North America: analysis of 5 years of satellite observations. *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 10*(4), 1491-1510.
- Vargo, J., Lappe, B., Mirabelli, M., & Conlon, K. (2023). Social vulnerability in US communities affected by wildfire smoke, 2011 to 2021. *American Journal of Public Health*(113), 759 767. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2023.307286
- Wallace, L., Wheeler, A., Kearny, J., Van Ryswk, K., You, H., Kulka, R., . . . Xu, X. (2011).
 Validation of continuous particle monitors for personal, indoor, and outdoor exposures. *Journal of exposure science & environmental epidemiology, 21*(1), 49-64.
 Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/jes201015
- Wang, X., Chancellor, G., Evenstad, J., Farnsworth, J., Hase, A., Olson, G., . . . Agarwal, J. (2009). A novel optical instrument for estimating size segregated aerosol m,ass concerntrations in real time. *Aerosol Science and Technology*, *43*(9), 939-950.
 Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/02786820903045141
- Washington State Department of Ecology. (2023, July 18). *Overview of Smoke Forecast Map.* Retrieved from Washington's Air Monitoring Network: Smoke Forecast: https://enviwa.ecology.wa.gov/Documents/SmokeForecast.pdf
- Wilmot, T., Mallia, D., Hallar, A., & Lin, J. (2022). Wildfire plumes in the Western US are reaching greater heights and injecting more aerosols aloft as wildfire activity intensifies. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 12400. Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-022-16607-3
- Xi, Y., Kshirsagar, A., Wade, T., Richardson, D., Brookhart, M., Wyatt, L., & Rappold, A. (2020, August). Mortality in US Hemodialysis Patients Following Exposure to Wildfire Smoke. *Journal of the American Soiety of Nephrology, 31*(8), 1824-1835. doi:10.1681/ASN.2019101066.
- Xiang, J., Huang, C. S., Liu, Y., Carmona, N., Zuidema, C., Austin, E., . . . Seto, E. (2021). Field measurements of PM2.5 infiltration factor and portable air clearner effectiveness during wildfire episodes in US residences. *Science of the Total Environment*(773), 145642. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145642
- Xu, W., Wang, S., Jinag, L., Sun, X., Wang, N., Liu, X., . . . Yang, G. (2022). The Influence of PM2.5 exposure on kindey diseases. *Human & Experimental Toxicology*, 41. doi:10.1177/09603271211069982
- Younan, D., Wang, X., Millstein, J., Petkus, A. B., Espeland, M., Chui, H., . . . Chen, J. (2022, Feb 3). Air quality improvement and cognitive decline in community-dwelling older

women in the United States: A longitudinal cohort study. *PLoS Med*, *19*(2). doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1003893

- Youssouf, H., Liousse, C., Roblou, L., Assamoi, E.-M., Salonen, R., Maesano, C., . . . Annesi-Maesano, I. (2014). Non-Accidental Health Impacts of Wildifre Smoke. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 11*(11), 11771-11804. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph111111772
- Zhang, B., Weuve, J., Langa, K., D'Souza, J., Szpiro, A., Faul, J., . . . Adar, S. (2023). Comparison of Particulate Air Pollution From Different Emission Sources and Incident Dementia in the U.S. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2023.3300
- Zheng, J. (2023). Exposure to wildfires and health outcomes of vulnerable people: Evidence from US data. *Economics & Human Biology*, 101311. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ehb.2023.101311
- Zhuang, Y., Fu, R., Santer, B., R.E., D., & Hall, A. (2021). Quantifying contributions of natural variability and anthropogenic forcings on increased fire weather risk over the western United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 118*, e2111875118.



APPENDIX A: Actions Taken Since Strategy Proposal

Development of the *Wildfire Smoke Health Mitigation Strategy* was proposed in 2019. Since then, there have been several significant developments and initiatives that have helped improve King County community preparedness to the increasing risks posed by wildfire smoke. The following provides a detailed outline of actions taken to date since the development of this strategy was first proposed.

COVID-19 & INCREASE IN INDOOR AIR QUALITY AWARENESS

The COVID-19 pandemic brought greater community awareness to the importance of indoor air quality. While the hazards of wildfire smoke differ from that of a global pandemic in a number of substantive ways, their common call for the need to improve the filtration capabilities of indoor environments speaks to a critical consideration that has long been overlooked. The COVID-19 pandemic, along with the compounding hazards that continued to unfold simultaneously throughout the duration of the pandemic, contributed to a rapid increase in the availability of federal, state, and local guidance, assessment methodologies, funding, and resources to improve indoor air quality.

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, most public guidance during wildfire smoke episodes directed the public to stay indoors to minimize risk of exposure or to seek shelter at places with better indoor air quality. However, no comprehensive assessments had been conducted to assess how well the sites that people were being directed to performed during episodes of wildfire smoke.

COVID-19 health recommendations for air quality measures in shelters and other communal or congregate spaces, as well as residential settings, also increased awareness of portable indoor air cleaners and their value. Previously, they were often only considered a necessity for households with individuals who were among the most vulnerable to health impacts arising from wildfire smoke exposure. They were often perceived to be a luxury rather than a common household appliance due to the high prices associated with purchasing and maintaining portable air cleaners through regularly buying replacement filters. This raised significant equity implications when it came to who had access to these devices. Since the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, commercial manufacturing of portable indoor air filtration units has increased, resulting in broader market competition and decreases in the price for these units, improving their accessibility and increasing the prevalence of their use.

Resource Distribution & Indoor Air Quality Guidance

Beginning in fall 2020, in recognition of the restrictions the COVID-19 pandemic had on the accessibility of public indoor spaces and given the overlap in populations most vulnerable to COVID-19 and wildfire smoke, PHSKC sought to help protect the health of frontline communities¹⁶¹ by directly distributing air filtration resources to help residents create a clean air room at home. By adopting a model that had been utilized by Puget Sound Clean Air Agency and leveraging funding made available by the federal government through the Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund, PHSKC began distribution of Do-It-Yourself (DIY) Box Fan Filter kits as a low-cost equitable alternative to the more expensive portable air cleaners available at the time. By weaving together additional funding opportunities, PHSKC was able to sustain these distribution efforts from 2020 to 2023, resulting in the distribution of approximately 4,700 DIY Box Fan Filter Kits to King County residents by working in partnership with close to 40 community-based and faith-based organizations. Each partnering organization was provided with educational training on the importance of indoor air quality and guidance on behavioral interventions that can be used to improve indoor air quality during wildfire smoke episodes. Distribution material included factsheets on the use of air filtration equipment that have been translated into 28 languages.

Throughout these distribution processes, PHSKC engaged in routine process evaluation and focus group discussions with community partners as part of its continuous improvement planning process. This led to ongoing refinement of guidance and logistical processes for coordinating the distribution of resources with community partners.

In 2021, in partnership with the University of Washington, PHSKC also initiated a pilot study to assess the effectiveness of the DIY box fan filter kit as an intervention for improving indoor air quality. The initial pilot focused on the identification of potential household barriers to using and maintaining the DIY kits that had been distributed. In 2023, PHSKC was able to leverage a funding opportunity from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) to expand its 2021 pilot to assess the efficacy of DIY box fan filter kits using a community participatory science framework. Participating residents were provided with a DIY box fan filter kit and a low-cost air quality sensor to obtain quantitative data on unit performance when applied in residential settings. These efforts, in collaboration with the University of Washington, are set to continue through 2025 and will include the assessment of additional interventions intended to help residents improve indoor air quality during wildfire smoke episodes.

In addition to the distribution of DIY box fans filter kits to residential settings, during the COVID-19 pandemic, PHSKC was able to help support non-residential settings including homeless service providers, senior centers, childcare service providers, food establishments, and other essential service sectors with implementation of indoor air quality improvements as part of its Environmental Health COVID-19 Recovery Program that operated from 2021 through 2023. During this time, Environmental Health Services Division staff supported facility operators by providing indoor air quality assessments and portable air cleaners equipped with high efficiency particulate air (HEPA) filters. While funding for this program ended in 2023, the guidance on improving indoor air quality developed during this program's operation remains available.

Over the past few years, several other county efforts have also worked to improve indoor air quality and increase the availability of guidance. In 2022, PHSKC launched its school environmental health safety program, which provides dedicated guidance and technical assistance to improve the operating conditions of public schools and childcare settings throughout the county. In 2023, King County Metro upgraded cabin air filters for all of their buses to filters with a minimum efficiency rating value (MERV) of MERV-13, the best possible filtration available for transit vehicles capable of filtering wildfire smoke particles as well as airborne viruses. In the years since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, the filtration systems of several county buildings have been upgraded to accommodate filters that can help filter wildfire smoke. Draft language has also been included in the 2024 King County Comprehensive Plan update to encourage the use and incorporation of indoor air filtration technologies and building envelope improvements in new development to further help mitigate air quality impacts on indoor environments during wildfire smoke episodes.

PUBLIC HEALTH RECOMMENDATIONS & RESPONSE COORDINATION

In 2020, severe wildfire smoke set new air pollution records across the region and jurisdictions struggled to respond to rapid changes in air quality conditions. As a result, in 2021, PHSKC developed *Public Health Recommendations during Wildfire Smoke Events* to improve regional coordination of emergency response efforts and to provide jurisdictions with guidance on when to initiate actions such as opening cleaner air sites and when to recommend cancellation of outdoor events and activities based upon risks posed to public health. Since this guidance was developed, it has been updated annually and is routinely disseminated to emergency management partners at the beginning of each wildfire smoke season.

PHSKC continues to expand its communications networks to ensure these recommendations also reach other critical sectors that fall outside of the scope of traditional emergency management structures, such as childcare service providers, youth camps and sports leagues, and outdoor event and concert organizers. Additionally, since the development of these recommendations, King County Office of Emergency Management (KCOEM) has also developed standard operating guidelines (SOGs) for convening wildfire smoke and extreme heat public information officer (PIO) coordination calls, to improve coordination and alignment of preparedness and response public messaging and risk communications ahead of and during wildfire smoke episodes resulting in air quality impacts across the county.

WA LABOR AND INDUSTRY (WA L&I) RULEMAKING

Outdoor and agricultural workers are at disproportionate risk of health impacts during wildfire smoke episodes. Following the record-breaking air quality impacts in fall 2020, Washington State Department of Labor and Industries (WA L&I) initiated a permanent rulemaking process to address the occupational hazards associated with wildfire smoke exposure for outdoor workers. The new permanent rule, titled <u>Wildfire Smoke & Workplace</u> <u>Safety and Health</u>, became effective on January 14, 2024.

The rule established a new chapter in the Washington Administrative Code (WAC), Chapter 296-820 WAC, Wildfire Smoke, and duplicated these requirements in Chapter 296-307 WAC, Safety Standards for Agriculture. The provisions of the rule now require employers of outdoor workers to ensure measures are in place to monitor air quality during wildfire smoke episodes, provide employee training on the health risks of wildfire smoke exposure, and utilize physical and administrative exposure controls to protect the health of employees during wildfire smoke episodes – including the provision of facial respirator masks (FRMs), such as N95 respirators, for voluntary use by employees.

